
SOUTHEAST ALASKA 
SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL  
ADVISORY COUNCIL
October 27-29, 2015
Yakutat, Alaska



What’s Inside

Page

1 Agenda

4 Roster

5 Winter 2015 Draft Meeting Minutes

12 Federal Subsistence Board FY2014 Annual Report Reply

18 Rural Determination Update 

23 Subsistence Access Management Act of 2015

34 Wildlife Proposal WP16-01

47 Wildlife Proposal WP16-02

53 Wildlife Proposal WP16-03

68 Wildlife Proposal WP16-04

74 Wildlife Proposal WP16-05

86 Wildlife Proposal WP16-06

91 Wildlife Proposal WP16-07

97 Wildlife Proposal WP16-08

107 Wildlife Proposal WP16-09

118 2016 Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program

146 Annual Report Briefing

148 Wrangell-St. Elias National Park & Preserve Fall 2015 Report

Continued on next page...
U
SF
W
S

On the cover... 

Sockeye salmon swim upstream to spawn. 



What’s Inside

150 Wrangell-St. Elias National Park & Preserve Backcountry & Wilderness Stewardship 
Plan

152 Office of Subisistence Management - Fall 2015 Report

155 2016 All-Council Meeting Information 

160 2016 Council Meeting Calendars

162 Council Charter



1Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Meeting Agenda

DRAFT

SOUTHEAST ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL
 

Alaska Native Brotherhood Meeting Hall
Yakutat, Alaska

October 27-29, 2015; 9:30 a.m.
 
 

AGENDA

*Asterisk identifies action item.

1.  Roll Call and Establish Quorum (Harvey Kitka, Secretary)...........................................................4

2.  Invocation 

3.  Call to Order (Mike Bangs, Chair) 

4.  Welcome and Introductions (Mike Bangs, Chair; Victoria Demmert; Lee Benson) 

5.  Review and Adopt Agenda* (Mike Bangs Chair) ..........................................................................1

6.  Review and Approve Previous Meeting Minutes* (Mike Bangs, Chair) .....................................5

7.  Reports 
 Council Member Reports
 Chair’s Report
 FY2014 Annual Report Reply..................................................................................................12

8.  Recognition of Bertrand Adams for Service on the Council

9.  Public and Tribal Comment on Non-Agenda Items (available each morning)

10.  Old Business (Chair)

 a. Rural Determination Update ...............................................................................................18

TELECONFERENCE: call the toll free number: 1-866-560-5984, then when prompted 
enter the passcode: 12960066 

PUBLIC COMMENTS: Public comments are welcome for each agenda item and for 
regional concerns not included on the agenda. The Council appreciates hearing your 
concerns and knowledge. Please fill out a comment form to be recognized by the 
Council chair. Time limits may be set to provide opportunity for all to testify and keep 
the meeting on schedule. 

PLEASE NOTE: These are estimated times and the agenda is subject to change. Contact 
staff for the current schedule. Evening sessions are at the call of the chair.



2 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Meeting Agenda

DRAFT
 b. Customary and Traditional Use Determination Working Group Report

11.  New Business (Chair)

 a. Wildlife Proposals*

        WP16-01; Unit 2, Deer Season Change (Jeff Reeves)......................................................34

        WP16-02; Unit 1C, Deer Season Change (Susan Oehlers) ..............................................47

        WP16-03; Unit 1-5, Goat Harvest Limit Change (Susan Oehlers)...................................53
  
        WP16-04; Unit 1C & 5A, Moose Definition (Susan Oehlers)..........................................68

        WP16-05; Unit 2, Deer In-season Management Authority (Jeff Reeves).........................74

        WP16-06; Unit 5, Definition of Nunatak Bench (Susan Oehlers) ...................................86

        WP16-07; Unit 1-5, Trapping Beaver with a Firearm (Jeff Reeves)..................................91

        WP16-08; Unit 2, Use of Deer Harvest Tags (Jeff Reeves)...............................................97

        WP16-09; Unit 3, Close Marten Trapping Season on Kuiu Island (Robert Larson) ......107

 b. 2016 Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program (OSM, USFS)...........................................118

 c. Presentation of Length of Service Award (FSB Member)

 d. Summary of 2015 Requests for Reconsideration (Cal Casipit)

 e. Summary of Wildlife and Fisheries Special Actions and Harvest Reports (Jeff Reeves)

 f. FY2015 Annual Report*.....................................................................................................146

12.  Agency Reports 

           Tribal Governments 

           Native Organizations 

           USFS; Personnel and Budget Update (Tom Whitford) 

           NPS; Wrangell-St. Elias Backcountry and Wilderness Stewardship Plan and Wrangell-St. Elias                              
          National Park & Preserve Fall 2015 Report (Barb Cellarius) .....................................148 

           BLM; Whiting Harbor Update (Dennis Teitzel) 



3Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Meeting Agenda

DRAFT
           ADF&G; Summary of Subsistence Division Studies (Lauren Sill) 

           OSM; Fall 2015 Report (Chuck Ardizzone).............................................................................152

           USCG; Boating Safety (Jason Boyle, LCDR, U. S. Coast Guard)

13.  Future Meeting Dates*

           a. Winter 2016 All-Council Meeting Update (Meeting Committee)........................................155

           b. Select Fall 2016 meeting date and location.........................................................................160

14.  Closing Comments 

15.  Adjourn (Chair) 

To teleconference into the meeting, call the toll free number: 1-866-560-5984, then when prompted 
enter the passcode: 12960066.

Reasonable Accommodations
The Federal Subsistence Board is committed to providing access to this meeting for all participants.  
Please direct all requests for sign language interpreting services, closed captioning, or other 
accommodation needs to Robert Larson, 907-772-5930, robertlarson@fs.fed.us, or 800-877-8339 
(TTY), by close of business on October 16, 2015.



4 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Roster

REGION 1
Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council 

Seat Year Appointed
Term Expires Member Name and Community

1 2013
2016

Arthur M. Bloom
Tenakee Springs

2 2004
2016

Frank G. Wright Jr.
Hoonah

3 1993
2016

Patricia A. Phillips
Pelican

4 2000
2016

Michael A. Douville
Craig

5 2002
2016

Harvey Kitka                                  Secretary
Sitka

6 2013
2017

Robert F. Schroeder
Juneau

7 2014
2017

Albert H. Howard
Angoon

8 2002
2017

Donald C. Hernandez
Point Baker

9 2012
2015

Kenneth L. Jackson
Kake

10 2012
2015

Mr. Aaron T. Isaacs, Jr.
Klawock

11 2010
2017

John A. Yeager
Wrangell

12 2003
2015

Michael D. Bangs                             Acting Chair
Petersburg

13 2009
2015

Cathy A. Needham
Juneau



5Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2015 Draft Meeting Mintues

1

MINUTES OF THE MARCH 17-19, 2015 SOUTHEAST ALASKA 
SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL MEETING

Location of Meeting:

Sitka Tribal Community House, 200 Katlian Street, Sitka, Alaska 99835

Time and Date of Meeting:

March 17, 11:00 a.m. – March 18-19, 9:00 a.m., 2015

Call to Order:

The spring, 2015 meeting of the Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council was called to
order Tuesday, March 17 at 11:00 a.m. Council members Phillips and Kitka were excused, Howard and
Isaacs were absent. Mr. Jackson provided an invocation.

Review and Adopt Agenda:

The Council supported a motion (9-0) to accept the Agenda as a guide with the understanding that the
discussion of the rural determination process would take place on Wednesday morning, Cal Casipit would 
provide a report on recent actions by the State Board of Fisheries, and the review of final actions would 
occur after Agency Reports.

Attendees:

The following persons attended some portion of the Southeast Alaska Council meeting either in person or
by teleconference, in addition to the Council members.
Adelaide Johnson Juneau USFS-PNRS
Albert Kookesh Angoon Public
Barbara Cellarius Copper Center NPS
Bert Adams Yakutat Public
Bill Thomas Haines Public
Cal Casipit Juneau USFS
Chris McKee Anchorage OSM
Dan Monteith Juneau Organized Village of Saxman
Dan Sharp Anchorage BLM
Dennis Teitzel Glennallen BLM
Glenn Chen ` Homer BIA
Pat Heuer Sitka USFS
Jeff Feldspausch Sitka Sitka Tribe of Alaska
Jeff Reeves Craig USFS
Jennifer Yuhas Anchorage ADF&G
Jim Capra Yakutat NPS
John Duncan Sr. Sitka Public



6 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2015 Draft Meeting Mintues

2

Justin Koller Sitka USFS
Kathy Hansen Juneau United Fisherman’s Alliance
Lauren Sill Juneau ADF&G
Lee Wallace Saxman Organized Village of Saxman
Mike Baines Sitka Sitka Tribe of Alaska
Paulette Moreno Sitka Public
Perry Edwards Sitka USFS
Pippa Kenner Anchorage OSM
Ray Nielson Jr. Sitka Public
Rich Lowell Petersburg ADF&G
Robert Larson Petersburg USFS
Steve Reifenstuhl Sitka NSRAA
Susan Oehlers Yakutat USFS
Terry Suminski Sitka USFS

Election of Officers:

Mike Bangs was elected Chair, Cathy Needham, vice-Chair and Harvey Kitka, Secretary.

Review and Approve Previous Meeting Minutes:

The Council supported a motion (9-0) to approve the October 21-23, 2014 Council meeting minutes.

Council Reports:

John Yeager reported that spring has come early in Wrangell and there is little snow on the hills and no ice 
on the Stikine River below Shakes glacier; this is very unusual for this time of year.  The residents of 
Wrangell are very concerned with the possible negative effects of mining in Canada on Transboundary 
Rivers.

Cathy Needham believes that mining on Transboundary Rivers is a concern to all residents of the Region.  
Residents are also concerned about the continued loss of shellfish resources due to the expansion of the sea 
otter population.  She attended the State Board of Game meeting as the Council’s representative and re-
ported the Board appreciated her presence and the input from the Council.  She liked the process where the 
status of wildlife was reviewed for that Unit prior to consideration of proposals for that Unit.

Bob Schroeder believes the Council is maturing and is fulfilling its role as a forum for the expression of 
subsistence concerns.  He believes the Council should pay more attention to environmental issues such as 
climate change and land use activities.  The Council should support the continuation of data gathering 
activities.

Frank Wright reminded the Council that residents of Hoonah should be considered residents of Glacier Bay. 
Although there are many sea otters near Hoonah, there are few in Port Frederick.  He is concerned about 
pollution of Game Creek by the new residents living there.  There is a new hydroelectric plant near Hoonah 
but he is wondering if there will be enough water this year for operations due to the lack of snow.



7Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2015 Draft Meeting Mintues

3

Art Bloom was pleased to report that the Board of Fisheries proposal to eliminate the commercial fishery
closed area for Dungeness crab near Tenakee Springs was not approved.

Mike Douville is concerned about the loss of shellfish near Craig due to the expansion of the sea otter 
population. Road closures are resulting in less area for people to hunt deer, less area for gathering fire-
wood and increased competition for resources.

Don Hernandez believes there will be serious negative consequences to subsistence use of resources on 
North Prince of Wales Island due to passage of the Sealaska Lands Act.

Ken Jackson is pleased to see that Sitka Tribe has been successful in protecting the herring resource in Sitka
Sound. Sea otters reproduce year-round and there are now thousands filling all the bays and inlets near
Kake. Local residents are harvesting some but need to be able to see the hides to have any effect of the 
population. Moose and deer are becoming more abundant near Kake because of increased interest in
trapping wolves. Sockeye salmon, harbor seals, jobs, and black seaweed are scarce near Kake. Cruise 
ships are continuing to dump gray-water in Frederick Sound and Chatham Strait.

Mike Bangs reported that the possible negative effect of mining in Canada on Transboundary Rivers is a big 
concern to the residents of the Region. The lack of snow this winter could have negative consequences for 
fish in streams if we have a dry summer. Deer are still scarce in the Petersburg area and the State has 
not started a predator control program as authorized by the Board of Game. Each Council member should
have an opportunity to attend a Federal Subsistence Board meeting; that is an important educational 
opportunity. The State Boards of Fisheries and Game appreciated Council participation in their process 
and the Council should take advantage of future opportunities to interact with those groups.

Public and Tribal Comments:

Mr. Lee Wallace appreciated the Council’s support in identifying Saxman as a rural community. The 
community has committed considerable time and expense in opposing the Board’s decision to identify the
community as non-rural. He believes it obvious that Saxman is a unique Tlingit Alaska Native community
that is separate from Ketchikan with its own history, economy and social structure. The community is in
favor of the new rural determination process proposed rule.

Dan Monteith is in favor of the proposed rule for making rural determinations. Saxman is truly a rural
community and the proposed rule will allow the Board the flexibility it needs to recognize Saxman’s rural 
nature.

Ray Nielson Jr. described the long history of use by Natives of herring and herring spawn. He does not 
appreciate commercial fishers harvesting eggs to give to subsistence users. That activity displaces sub-
sistence users and disrupts the traditional methods of harvesting eggs.

Albert Kookesh thanked the Council for the kindness it showed to Floyd. It is clear that the State legis-
lature is unwilling to amend the State’s Constitution and allow the ADF&G to assume management of
subsistence resources on Federal Public Land as directed in ANILCA. The subsistence use of resources is
the right of all residents and the Council is the guardian of that right for all people in the Region.



8 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2015 Draft Meeting Mintues

4

Bill Thomas, a former State legislator, is in favor of amending the State of Alaska’s Constitution to allow
the State to assume management of subsistence. He informed the Council that there is no enforcement of
the subsistence halibut fishery and private ownership of land is restricting access to subsistence resources. 
He believes the Council provides an important function and thanked the members for their service.

Paulette Moreno attended the recent State Board of Fisheries meeting and appreciated the more relaxed
atmosphere of the Council meeting. Although commercial fishing vessels have been providing herring
eggs for the community, subsistence has a spiritual component that is not satisfied by a stranger delivering
that product to a dock. The Council should promote a free exchange of information and recommend rules 
that are less strict that many of the State’s regulations. She does not believe that the Amounts Necessary
for Subsistence for herring spawn is being met. She would like the Tribes to have an opportunity to review
the Council’s possible customary and traditional use proposal prior to being submitted.

John Duncan Sr. provided a formal welcome to the Council as a speaker of the “Clay House” in Excursion
Inlet. He informed the Council that the way the State enforces subsistence regulations makes many sub-
sistence users feel like they are stealing. Subsistence users must join together to protect their rights.
People use all resources that are available to them and that use must be protected. Regulators must be
aware of the Native perspective.

Bert Adams was pleased to hear that the Council may be coming to Yakutat for the fall meeting. He is 
also concerned that the Park Service is preventing owners of cabins in Dry Bay from using them for both 
commercial fishing and subsistence fishing and hunting.

Old Business:

Pippa Kenner provided a summary of the proposed rule to change the rural determination process. Based
on testimony from the previous evening’s public meeting and the staff analysis, the Council agreed to
support the proposed rule. Their rationale was that the new rule provides flexibility to recognize charac-
teristics particular to each community, highlights the role of Regional Councils and removes the require-
ment for a 10-year review. The Council drafted a letter detailing their support.

Pippa Kenner summarized the customary and traditional use determination process staff analysis that was 
included in the Council book. During this discussion, it was clear the Council did not want to promote
more competition between users. The other Councils need additional information and the SE Council is 
not ready to make a formal proposal to change the customary and traditional determination process. The 
Council noted that the staff analysis should be strengthened by including: a discussion of determinations for 
a geographic area, how to maintain the current determinations, deference should be in regulation, and why
the eight factors are not required by ANILCA. The Council’s recommendation is to ask OSM to write an
addendum to the staff analysis to address the identified concerns. Motion approved 9-0 (motion by 
Hernandez, seconded by Douville) to proceed with the process with an updated staff analysis and 
communicate this decision with the Board by letter. The Council reauthorized Cathy Needham, Patty
Phillips, Don Hernandez and Mike Bangs to work together as representatives of the Council with the
Office of Subsist-ence Management on the customary and traditional use determination issue.

Cal Casipit provided a summary of Alaska Board of Fisheries (BOF) actions, emphasizing those that relate
to the Petition for Extraterritorial Jurisdiction in the waters of Chatham Strait near the village of Angoon.



9Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2015 Draft Meeting Mintues

5

The BOF adopted proposals that identified an Amounts Necessary for Subsistence Use for residents of 
Angoon, closed waters to commercial fishing, and adjusted the commercial seine fishery to pass 80% of 
sockeye returning to area streams. Other proposals that were adopted by the BOF closed the subsistence 
sockeye fishing at Klawock above the bridge. The BOF did not adopt annual limits for salmon for 
non-residents.

Steve Reifenstuhl provided testimony regarding the Northern Southeast Regional Aquaculture Associa-
tion’s answer to the Council’s letter regarding enhancement opportunities at Kanalku Lake. The size of
sockeye salmon smolt is an important clue to whether the lake is nutrient limited. There is an opportunity
to raise coho salmon fry in nets at the lake but that technology is not available for sockeye salmon. The 
proportion of salmon passing the partial barrier in the outlet stream should be increased and the most rea-
sonable way to do that is to install a fish ladder. To better identify enhancement opportunities, additional
information on: the productivity of sockeye at Kanalku Lake, water chemistry and specific life history
strategies is necessary.

Robert Larson reported that the provisions of the U.S./Canada Pacific Salmon Treaty that authorizes the 
Stikine River subsistence fishery is in the process of being renegotiated. The Subsistence Board 
recently approved the Council’s recommendations to require fishing nets to be check twice each day and
requested that the Pacific Salmon Commission remove the guideline harvest levels from Treaty language.

New Business:

Jeff Reeves reviewed the status of wildlife populations important to subsistence users and discussed the 
Special Actions enacted by in-season managers. Information was summarized in two distributions.

Terry Suminski reviewed recent regulatory actions by the State Board of Game. Cathy Needham repre-
sented the Council at the Board of Game meeting and the written comments were very well received and 
appreciated by the Board of Game. An important result of this meeting was an agreement, based on the 
Council’s recommendation, for management of wolves on Prince of Wales Island.

The Council agreed to submit the following proposals to change subsistence hunting and trapping regula-
tions to the Subsistence Board.

Remove the term “antlered” from the moose harvest regulations in 5B, and 1C remainder.
Add a definition of “Nunatak Bench” to the Unit 5 regulations. 
Remove from regulation, in the Unit 2 deer section, the following: “The harvest limit may be re-
duced to 4 deer based on conservation concerns.”
Require the use of harvest ticket number five when harvesting a female deer in Unit 2.  Harvest 
ticket number five must be used to record the harvest of a female deer but can be used to record the 
harvest of a male deer. Harvest tickets must be used in order except when recording a female deer 
on tag number five.

 Allow trappers to harvest beaver with a firearm in Units 1-5.

Terry Suminski reported that the Notice of Funding Availability for Fisheries Resource Monitoring
Program proposals was announced in December 2014. The proposal period closed recently and it is
un-known which proposals have been received. The proposals will be evaluated by the Technical
Review



10 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2015 Draft Meeting Mintues

6

Committee.  The Council will have an opportunity to consider the recommendations and prioritize the 
projects during the fall meeting.

The Council approved the following draft topics for inclusion in the 2014 draft Annual Report.

The potential negative effects of mining in Canada on fisheries in Southeast Alaska, is the most 
pressing issue identified by the Council.
The Council is concerned that there has been limited communication from the Board or the State on 
how the issues identified in the petition for extraterritorial jurisdiction are being addressed.
There is a need for a subsistence user representative on the North Pacific Fisheries Management 
Council.
Improvements are needed in the Board’s Correspondence Process to better support efforts at co-
ordination with other agencies by the Council.

The Office of Subsistence Management will recommend the new Council Charters contain the
following changes:

Members are appointed to 4-year terms
Incumbents may continue to serve until the new appointment is made or 120 days past the expira-
tion of the term, whichever is soonest
A vacancy on the Council will be filled by an appointed alternate, if available

Agency Reports:

Jennifer Yuhas reported that ADF&G is committed to support the subsistence needs of Angoon residents.
The end of the petition process is not the end of the State’s commitment to the residents of Angoon. Sam
Cotten is the new Commissioner and Charlie Swanton is the Alaska Commissioner to the Pacific Salmon 
Commission. The State is interested in tracking transboundary mining activity and that effort will be
organized through the Department of Natural Resources. Rich Lowell, Acting Management Coordinator
for Wildlife in the Southeast Region, thanked the Council for their efforts in addressing management
concerns for wolves on Prince of Wales Island. The staff is working to implement the intensive man-
agement project for deer on Lindenberg Peninsula but first must have a better method of counting deer.
ADF&G is in the process of conducting browse utilization studies, and deer pellet and wolf scat DNA
research. There are likely a number of reasons why deer remain at such low numbers; severe winters, wolf
and bear predation, and competition from moose. Lauren Sill has completed subsistence use surveys for 
five communities that will be published soon. The Subsistence Division is also finalizing a report on the 
use of salmon on the Stikine River and continuing to document the use of herring and herring spawn in the
Sitka area. The next survey that is planned is to document the use of sockeye salmon at Klawock Lake.

Jim Capra, National Park Service, reported that the NPS has produced a proposed rule discussing
collection of shed antlers or other animal parts or plants from park areas in Alaska. The Alaska-specific
regulations are needed to overcome the general nationwide regulations which prohibit this practice. The
selected alternative allows subsistence collections in the National Parks in Alaska while maintaining park 
values. There are no predator control issues for the parks in the SE Region.



11Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Winter 2015 Draft Meeting Mintues

7

Di (Adelaide) Johnson of the Pacific Northwest Research Station provided a report that links changes in 
the physical environment to changes in the use patterns of subsistence resources.  Her work was detailed 
in a report distributed to the Council. Pat Heuer, Tongass Forest Planner, provided the Council an update 
on the Tongass Land Management Plan Amendment Process.  This process was started in May of 2014 
and will end in August 2016 with a Final Environmental Impact Study and a Record of Decision.  The 
Tongass Advisory Committee was formed to assist the Forest Service in transitioning from old growth 
management to young growth management; a written summary was distributed.

Chris McKee informed the Council of several new employees at the Office of Subsistence Management, 
including himself as the new Chief of Wildlife.  They now have two new wildlife biologists, two new 
council coordinators, a new Anthropology Chief and a new Native Liaison.

Dennis Teitzel works out of the BLM Glennallen Field Office and reported the BLM is prepared to begin 
testing methods of eliminating the invasive tunicate known as D. Vex in Sitka Sound.  Treatments will 
be conducted in May and the evaluation in July.  Complete eradication is planned for next year.  The 
land transfer to Sealaska Corporation was completed in early March.

Future Meeting Dates

The Council approved the fall meeting for October 20-22, 2015 in Yakutat (the dates were subsequently 
changed to October 27-29). The Council agreed to an all-Council meeting on March 7-11, 2016 in An-
chorage.

The Council meeting adjourned at noon, March 19, 2015.

I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge, the foregoing minutes are accurate and complete.

/s/ Robert Larson March 19, 2015

Robert Larson, DFO, USFS Subsistence Management Program

/s/ Mike Bangs March 19, 2015

Mike Bangs, Chair, Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council

These minutes will be formally considered by the Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council at its next meeting, and any corrections or notations will be incorporated in the minutes of that 
meeting.



12 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FY2014 Annual Report Reply



13Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FY2014 Annual Report Reply



14 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FY2014 Annual Report Reply



15Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FY2014 Annual Report Reply



16 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FY2014 Annual Report Reply



17Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

FY2014 Annual Report Reply

NOTE: Enclosures not included in meeting book due to number of pages (80).



18 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Rural Determination Update

1011 East Tudor Road MS-121  Anchorage, Alaska 99503-6199  subsistence@fws.gov  (800) 478-1456 / (907) 786-3888  
This document has been cleared for public release # 1807292015.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
Bureau of Land Management
National Park Service
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Federal Subsistence Board
News Release       Forest Service 

For Immediate Release: 
July 29, 2015

Contact: Deborah Coble 
(907) 786-3880 or (800) 478-1456 
deborah_coble@fws.gov 

Federal Subsistence Board work session summary 

During its work session held on Tuesday, July 28, 2015 the Federal Subsistence Board (Board) 
discussed deferred Request for Reconsideration RFR14-01. The motion to accept the State’s 
request for reconsideration failed unanimously with a vote of 0-8. The Red Sheep and Cane 
Creek drainages will remain closed to non-Federally qualified subsistence users during the Aug 
10-Sept. 20 sheep season in the Arctic Village Sheep Management Area of Unit 25. No further 
public comments were received regarding the issue at this work session. 

The Rural Determination Process briefing was divided into three phases. Phase I addressed the 
Board’s recommendation on the current secretarial proposed rule. The Board voted to 
recommend to the Secretaries to adopt the proposed rule as written. Phase II was determining a 
starting point for non-rural communities/areas. The Board voted to publish a direct final rule 
adopting the pre-2007 non-rural determinations. Phase III was direction on future non-rural 
determinations. The Board voted to direct staff to develop options to determine future non-rural 
determination for the Board’s consideration. All three requests passed unanimously (8-0). OSM 
staff is expected to have a draft of options for the Board by the January 2016 meeting. 

The Ninilchik Traditional Council submitted requests concerning the Kenai River gillnet fishery 
to the Board. The Board voted 7-1 to direct USFWS to continue working with NTC on an 
operational plan for the fishery. The request to rescind USFWS in-season manager’s delegation 
of authority failed unanimously in a 0-8 vote. The request to reverse the emergency special 
action that closed the subsistence fishery for Chinook Salmon on the Kenai River failed in a 4-4 
vote. NTC’s final request to remove or amend current regulatory language on the Kenai River 
gillnet fishery was deferred and may be addressed during the next regulatory cycle.  

Also discussed today during the work session was the 10 Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council’s Annual Report Replies. The RAC nominations discussion will occur during a closed 
executive session today, July 29, 2015 and is not open to the public.  



19Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Rural Determination Update

1011 East Tudor Road MS-121  Anchorage, Alaska 99503-6199  subsistence@fws.gov  (800) 478-1456 / (907) 786-3888  
This document has been cleared for public release # 1807292015.

Additional information on the Federal Subsistence Management Program may be found on the 
web at www.doi.gov/subsistence or by visiting www.facebook.com/subsistencealaska.

Missing out on the latest Federal subsistence issues? If you’d like to receive emails and 
notifications on the Federal Subsistence Management Program you may subscribe for regular 
updates by emailing fws-fsb-subsistence-request@lists.fws.gov.

-###-



20 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Rural Determination Update

Options for Board Recommendation on Current Secretarial Proposed Rule

The Board has four options for consideration:

1. Adopt as written; 
2. Reject, 
3. Adopt with Modification; or 
4. Adopt and include in the preamble, direction for OSM and the ISC to develop a policy to address 

future nonrural determinations.

Program staff recommend the proposed rule be adopted as written.  This action would be in line with the 
majority of the Regional Advisory Councils recommendations and public comments.  It would also 
provide the shortest timeline and greatest opportunity for the resolution of this issue prior to the May 
2017 deadline. If the Board does not take action prior to the deadline, communities that were selected to 
change from rural to nonrural in the 2007 final rule will become effective.

Options for Board Action to Determine Start-point for Nonrural Communities/Areas

The Board has three options to address rural determinations following action on the proposed rule.  If no 
action is taken, the 2007 final rule will become effective in May 2017.

1. Initiate a direct final rule to adopt the pre-2007 rural determinations; 
2. Initiate normal rulemaking to adopt an earlier rural determination; 
3. Initiate rulemaking that would not address a start point and address each community individually.

Program staff recommend the Board initiate a direct final rule that would adopt the pre-2007 rural 
determinations.  This action would resolve any current issues with communities/areas that were changed 
to nonrural in the 2007 final rule.  If  significant negative response from the public occurred, the direct 
final rule could be withdrawn and normal rulemaking could be undertaken.  This option provides the 
shortest timeline and greatest opportunity for the resolution of this issue prior to the May 2017 deadline.  

Options for Board to Direct Future Nonrural Determinations

To address future nonrural determinations, the Board has two options.  The Board may direct staff to
develop a draft nonrural determinations policy on how future determinations will be made; or, the Board 
may initiate rulemaking to address future determinations.

Program staff recommend the Board direct a policy to be drafted to address future nonrural 
determinations.  This action will allow the greatest flexibility for Board action and the inclusion of 
regional variations.  This option addresses concerns raised by some of the Councils (what the process of 
future nonrural determinations will be).  Additionally it would require less time and the policy could be 
revised without formal rulemaking. Potential policy components could address nonrural characteristics
with weighting potential that would  accommodate regional variation and criteria for initiating a review of 
a community or area. The rural subcommittee, whose membership consists of program staff and ISC 
members, would develop the policy with input from the Councils, tribes, and public over the next 18 
months with a goal of adoption by the Board in early 2017.



21Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Rural Determination Update

Rural D
eterm

ination Recom
m

endation Phases July 28, 2015 
Phase I 

O
ptions for Board Recom

m
endation on Current Secretarial Proposed Rule 

Board O
ption 

Pro 
Con 

Tim
eline 

N
otes 

1. A
dopt as w

ritten 
- Shortest tim

eline 
- M

ajority of com
m

ents 
support 

Lacks guidance on future 
actions 

Publish m
id-August 2015 

(tim
eline is based on how

 
long it w

ould take staff to 
process the final rule; the 
response tim

e from
 the 

Secretaries w
ill be critical in 

any tim
eline) 

- This option provides the 
greatest opportunity for the 
Board to resolve this issue 
w

ell prior of the M
ay 2017 

deadline 
- G

uidance for future actions 
could be addressed in 
pream

ble of final rule 
2. A

dopt w
ith directive to 

develop/m
aintain policy 

- W
ould address som

e of the 
public com

m
ents 

- Likely w
ill m

eet proposed 
tim

eline for rule com
pletion 

- W
ould probably add 60 days 

to the publication date 
- Secretaries could direct 
another round of public 
com

m
ents, adding 

considerable tim
e and 

possibility that w
ill not m

eet 
intended tim

eline for decision 
m

aking 

Publish O
ctober 2015 

- This option m
ay not m

eet 
the M

ay 2017 deadline if the 
Board is directed to allow

 for 
additional public com

m
ent 

- The pream
ble could address 

the Board’s policy m
aking 

plan (if that option is 
selected) 

3. A
dopt w

ith substantial 
m

odification 
(a)

RA
C deference 

(b)
List nonrural criteria 

- W
ould address som

e of the 
public/RAC com

m
ents 

- G
oes against Secretaries’ 

intent to sim
plify the process 

- W
ould likely require 

additional public com
m

ent 
period 
- M

ay require additional 
proposed rule, w

hich could 
affect ability to m

eet M
ay 

2017 deadline 

Publish N
ovem

ber 2016 
 

4. Reject 
 

- 2007 final rule becom
es 

effective on M
ay 7, 2017 

- D
oes not follow

 Secretarial 
directive to address rural 
issue 
- D

oes not address the 
m

ajority of public com
m

ents 
received 

N
o action to be taken 

 

 



22 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Rural Determination Update

Ru
ra

l D
et

er
m

in
at

io
n 

Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n 

Ph
as

es
 Ju

ly
 2

8,
 2

01
5 

Ph
as

e 
II 

O
pt

io
ns

 fo
r B

oa
rd

 A
ct

io
n 

to
 D

et
er

m
in

e 
St

ar
t-

po
in

t f
or

 N
on

ru
ra

l C
om

m
un

iti
es

/A
re

as
 

Bo
ar

d 
O

pt
io

n 
Pr

o 
Co

n 
Ti

m
el

in
e 

N
ot

es
 

1.
D

ire
ct

 fi
na

l r
ul

e 
ad

op
tin

g
th

e 
no

nr
ua

l c
om

m
un

iti
es

pr
e-

20
07

 fi
na

l r
ul

e

-S
ho

rt
es

t t
im

el
in

e
-P

ro
vi

de
s 

fo
un

da
tio

n 
fo

r
no

nr
ur

al

Po
ss

ib
le

 p
ub

lic
 d

is
ap

pr
ov

al
 

du
e 

to
 la

ck
 o

f c
ur

re
nt

 p
ub

lic
 

in
pu

t 

Pu
bl

is
h 

Se
pt

em
be

r 2
01

5 
Co

m
m

un
iti

es
 th

at
 w

er
e 

ru
le

d 
as

 n
on

ru
ra

l i
n 

20
07

 fi
na

l r
ul

e 
w

ou
ld

 b
ec

om
e 

ru
ra

l 
2.

In
iti

at
e 

ne
w

 fo
rm

al
ru

le
m

ak
in

g 
to

 re
ve

rt
 to

 p
re

-
20

07
 ru

ra
l d

et
er

m
in

at
io

ns
 

-W
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

RA
C 

an
d 

pu
bl

ic
co

m
m

en
t p

er
io

ds
 

Pr
oc

es
s 

co
ul

d 
ta

ke
 u

p 
to

 a
 

ye
ar

 to
 c

om
pl

et
e 

Pu
bl

is
h 

Ju
ly

 2
01

6 

3.
In

iti
at

e 
ne

w
 fo

rm
al

ru
le

m
ak

in
g 

w
ith

 n
o 

“s
ta

rt
 

po
in

t”
 a

nd
 a

dd
re

ss
 e

ac
h 

no
nr

ur
al

 c
om

m
un

ity
 o

n 
a 

ca
se

 b
y 

ca
se

 b
as

is
. 

-P
ro

ce
ss

 c
ou

ld
 ta

ke
 2

+ 
ye

ar
s

to
 c

om
pl

et
e

-2
00

7 
fin

al
 ru

le
 b

ec
om

es
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

on
 M

ay
 7

, 2
01

7

Pu
bl

is
h 

Ju
ly

 2
01

7 
or

 la
te

r 
Co

m
m

un
iti

es
 s

el
ec

te
d 

in
 2

00
7 

fin
al

 ru
le

 to
 c

ha
ng

e 
st

at
us

 
fr

om
 ru

ra
l t

o 
no

nr
ur

al
 

be
co

m
e 

no
nr

ur
al

 

Ph
as

e 
III

 
O

pt
io

ns
 fo

r B
oa

rd
 to

 D
ire

ct
 F

ut
ur

e 
N

on
ru

ra
l D

et
er

m
in

at
io

ns
 

Bo
ar

d 
O

pt
io

n 
Pr

o 
Co

n 
Ti

m
el

in
e 

N
ot

es
 

1.
D

ir
ec

t s
ta

ff
 to

 d
ra

ft
 p

ol
ic

y
on

 n
on

ru
ra

l d
et

er
m

in
at

io
ns

-A
llo

w
s 

gr
ea

te
st

 fl
ex

ib
ili

ty
 fo

r
Bo

ar
d 

ac
tio

ns
 a

nd
 th

e
in

cl
us

io
n 

of
 re

gi
on

al
va

ria
tio

ns
-R

eq
ui

re
s 

le
ss

 ti
m

e 
th

an
fo

rm
al

 ru
le

m
ak

in
g

W
ou

ld
 d

ep
en

d 
on

 B
oa

rd
’s

 
di

re
ct

io
n 

fo
r p

ub
lic

, R
AC

 a
nd

 
Tr

ib
al

 in
pu

t 

2.
D

ir
ec

t s
ta

ff
 to

 in
iti

at
e

fo
rm

al
 ru

le
m

ak
in

g 
to

 a
dd

re
ss

fu
tu

re
 n

on
ru

ra
l

de
te

rm
in

at
io

n

An
y 

fu
tu

re
 re

vi
si

on
s 

w
ou

ld
 

re
qu

ire
 fo

rm
al

 ru
le

m
ak

in
g 

Ap
pr

ox
im

at
el

y 
1 

ye
ar

 



23Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Subsistence Access Management Act of 2015

I 

114TH CONGRESS 
1ST SESSION H. R. 2388 

To reverse the designation by the Secretary of the Interior and the Secretary 
of Agriculture of certain communities in the State of Alaska as nonrural. 

IN THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 

MAY 15, 2015 
Mr. YOUNG of Alaska introduced the following bill; which was referred to the 

Committee on Natural Resources 

A BILL 
To reverse the designation by the Secretary of the Interior 

and the Secretary of Agriculture of certain communities 
in the State of Alaska as nonrural. 

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-1

tives of the United States of America in Congress assembled, 2

SECTION 1. SHORT TITLE. 3

This Act may be cited as the ‘‘Subsistence Access 4

Management Act of 2015’’. 5

SEC. 2. DEFINITION OF SECRETARIES. 6

In this Act, the term ‘‘Secretaries’’ means the Sec-7

retary of the Interior and the Secretary of Agriculture. 8

VerDate Sep 11 2014 23:52 May 22, 2015 Jkt 049200 PO 00000 Frm 00001 Fmt 6652 Sfmt 6201 E:\BILLS\H2388.IH H2388em
cd

on
al

d 
on

 D
SK

67
Q

TV
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 B
IL

LS



24 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Subsistence Access Management Act of 2015

2 

•HR 2388 IH

SEC. 3. REDESIGNATION NOT AUTHORIZED. 1

(a) IN GENERAL.—Notwithstanding any other provi-2

sion of law, including any regulation, order, or policy, for 3

purposes of administering the Federal Subsistence Man-4

agement Program on public lands within the State of Alas-5

ka pursuant to the Alaska National Interest Lands Con-6

servation Act (16 U.S.C. 3101 et seq.), with respect to 7

a community or area designated as rural by the Secre-8

taries by regulation effective on or before May 6, 2007, 9

the Secretaries may not, except pursuant to Act of Con-10

gress— 11

(1) redesignate the community or area as 12

nonrural; or 13

(2) adjust the boundaries of a community or 14

area to render some or all of that community or 15

area nonrural. 16

(b) REINSTATEMENT OF LIST.— 17

(1) IN GENERAL.—The list of communities and 18

areas designated rural (including the boundaries of 19

those communities and areas) in effect on May 6, 20

2007, is reinstated. 21

(2) EFFECT.—Except as modified by an Act of 22

Congress, with respect to those communities and 23

areas designated as rural, the list described in para-24

graph (1) shall be in effect as if the final rule enti-25

tled ‘‘Subsistence Management Regulations for Pub-26

VerDate Sep 11 2014 23:52 May 22, 2015 Jkt 049200 PO 00000 Frm 00002 Fmt 6652 Sfmt 6201 E:\BILLS\H2388.IH H2388em
cd

on
al

d 
on

 D
SK

67
Q

TV
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 B
IL

LS



25Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Subsistence Access Management Act of 2015

3 

•HR 2388 IH

lic Lands in Alaska, Subpart C; Nonrural Deter-1

minations’’ (72 Fed. Reg. 25688 (May 7, 2007)) 2

had not been issued. 3

SEC. 4. EFFECT. 4

Nothing in this Act prohibits the Secretaries from de-5

termining that, in accordance with regulations duly pro-6

mulgated by the Secretaries— 7

(1) a community or area designated nonrural 8

by the Secretaries should be redesignated as rural; 9

or 10

(2) the boundaries of a community or area des-11

ignated nonrural should be adjusted by the Secre-12

taries to render some or all of that community or 13

area rural. 14

SEC. 5. PUBLICATION OF INTERIM FINAL RULE, LIST. 15

(a) PUBLICATION OF INTERIM FINAL RULE.—Not 16

later than 30 days after the date of enactment of this Act, 17

the Secretaries shall publish an interim final rule amend-18

ing any regulations inconsistent with this Act. 19

(b) PUBLICATION OF LIST.—Once each year after the 20

publication under subsection (a), the Secretaries shall 21

publish in the Federal Register a list of communities and 22

areas (including the boundaries of those communities and 23

VerDate Sep 11 2014 23:52 May 22, 2015 Jkt 049200 PO 00000 Frm 00003 Fmt 6652 Sfmt 6201 E:\BILLS\H2388.IH H2388em
cd

on
al

d 
on

 D
SK

67
Q

TV
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 B
IL

LS



26 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Subsistence Access Management Act of 2015

4 

•HR 2388 IH

areas) designated rural and nonrural in accordance with 1

this Act. 2

Æ 

VerDate Sep 11 2014 23:52 May 22, 2015 Jkt 049200 PO 00000 Frm 00004 Fmt 6652 Sfmt 6301 E:\BILLS\H2388.IH H2388em
cd

on
al

d 
on

 D
SK

67
Q

TV
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 B
IL

LS



27Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Subsistence Access Management Act of 2015

II 

114TH CONGRESS 
1ST SESSION S. 1154 

To reverse the designation by the Secretary of the Interior and the Secretary 
of Agriculture of certain communities in the State of Alaska as nonrural. 

IN THE SENATE OF THE UNITED STATES 

APRIL 30, 2015 
Ms. MURKOWSKI introduced the following bill; which was read twice and 

referred to the Committee on Energy and Natural Resources 

A BILL 
To reverse the designation by the Secretary of the Interior 

and the Secretary of Agriculture of certain communities 
in the State of Alaska as nonrural. 

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-1

tives of the United States of America in Congress assembled, 2

SECTION 1. SHORT TITLE. 3

This Act may be cited as the ‘‘Subsistence Access 4

Management Act of 2015’’. 5

SEC. 2. DEFINITION OF SECRETARIES. 6

In this Act, the term ‘‘Secretaries’’ means the Sec-7

retary of the Interior and the Secretary of Agriculture. 8

VerDate Sep 11 2014 02:53 May 08, 2015 Jkt 049200 PO 00000 Frm 00001 Fmt 6652 Sfmt 6201 E:\BILLS\S1154.IS S1154em
cd

on
al

d 
on

 D
SK

67
Q

TV
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 B
IL

LS



28 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Subsistence Access Management Act of 2015

2 

•S 1154 IS

SEC. 3. REDESIGNATION NOT AUTHORIZED. 1

(a) IN GENERAL.—Notwithstanding any other provi-2

sion of law, including any regulation, order, or policy, for 3

purposes of administering the Federal Subsistence Man-4

agement Program on public lands within the State of Alas-5

ka pursuant to the Alaska National Interest Lands Con-6

servation Act (16 U.S.C. 3101 et seq.), with respect to 7

a community or area designated as rural by the Secre-8

taries by regulation effective on or before May 6, 2007, 9

the Secretaries may not, except pursuant to Act of Con-10

gress— 11

(1) redesignate the community or area as 12

nonrural; or 13

(2) adjust the boundaries of a community or 14

area to render some or all of that community or 15

area nonrural. 16

(b) REINSTATEMENT OF LIST.— 17

(1) IN GENERAL.—The list of communities and 18

areas designated rural (including the boundaries of 19

those communities and areas) in effect on May 6, 20

2007, is reinstated. 21

(2) EFFECT.—Except as modified by Act of 22

Congress, with respect to those communities and 23

areas designated as rural, the list described in para-24

graph (1) shall be in effect as if the final rule enti-25

tled ‘‘Subsistence Management Regulations for Pub-26

VerDate Sep 11 2014 02:53 May 08, 2015 Jkt 049200 PO 00000 Frm 00002 Fmt 6652 Sfmt 6201 E:\BILLS\S1154.IS S1154em
cd

on
al

d 
on

 D
SK

67
Q

TV
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 B
IL

LS



29Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Subsistence Access Management Act of 2015

3 

•S 1154 IS

lic Lands in Alaska, Subpart C; Nonrural Deter-1

minations’’ (72 Fed. Reg. 25688 (May 7, 2007)) 2

had not been issued. 3

SEC. 4. EFFECT. 4

Nothing in this Act prohibits the Secretaries from de-5

termining that, in accordance with regulations duly pro-6

mulgated by the Secretaries— 7

(1) a community or area designated nonrural 8

by the Secretaries should be redesignated as rural; 9

or 10

(2) the boundaries of a community or area des-11

ignated nonrural should be adjusted by the Secre-12

taries to render some or all of that community or 13

area rural. 14

SEC. 5. PUBLICATION OF INTERIM FINAL RULE, LIST. 15

(a) PUBLICATION OF INTERIM FINAL RULE.—Not 16

later than 30 days after the date of enactment of this Act, 17

the Secretaries shall publish an interim final rule amend-18

ing any regulations inconsistent with this Act. 19

(b) PUBLICATION OF LIST.—Once each year after the 20

publication under subsection (a), the Secretaries shall 21

publish in the Federal Register a list of communities and 22

areas (including the boundaries of those communities and 23

VerDate Sep 11 2014 02:53 May 08, 2015 Jkt 049200 PO 00000 Frm 00003 Fmt 6652 Sfmt 6201 E:\BILLS\S1154.IS S1154em
cd

on
al

d 
on

 D
SK

67
Q

TV
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 B
IL

LS



30 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Subsistence Access Management Act of 2015

4 

•S 1154 IS

areas) designated rural and nonrural in accordance with 1

this Act. 2

Æ 

VerDate Sep 11 2014 02:53 May 08, 2015 Jkt 049200 PO 00000 Frm 00004 Fmt 6652 Sfmt 6301 E:\BILLS\S1154.IS S1154em
cd

on
al

d 
on

 D
SK

67
Q

TV
N

1P
R

O
D

 w
ith

 B
IL

LS



31Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Subsistence Access Management Act of 2015

H.R. 2388: To reverse the designation by the Secretary of the 
Interior and the Secretary of Agriculture of certain communities in 
the State of Alaska as nonrural. 

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR AND UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
AGRICULTURE JOINT STATEMENT OF THE DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR AND 

THE DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE FOR THE RECORD FOR
THE HOUSE NATURAL RESOURCES COMMITTEE

SUBCOMMITTEE ON INDIAN, INSULAR AND NATIVE ALASKAN AFFAIRS HEARING
ON H.R. 2388, THE SUBSISTENCE ACCESS MANAGEMENT ACT OF 2015

July 22, 2015

Thank you for the opportunity to provide a statement on the Administration’s views 
regarding H.R. 2388, the Subsistence Access Management Act of 2015 (HR 2388).  The 
Administration has several concerns about this legislation and opposes its enactment. 

H.R. 2388 would prohibit the Secretary of the Interior and the Secretary of Agriculture from 
changing the status under the Alaska National Interest Lands Conservation Act (ANILCA) 
of Alaskan communities from rural to nonrural and would also prohibit any regulatory 
changes to rural Alaskan community boundaries that would result in such a change.  It 
would require the Secretaries to publish an interim final rule within 30 days of enactment to 
amend any regulations that are not consistent with the legislation, and it would require the 
Secretaries to annually publish a list of Alaska communities that are designated as rural 
and non-rural.

If enacted, this legislation would effectively undermine the expectations of the Federal 
Subsistence Regional Advisory Councils (Councils) that they will be given a meaningful 
voice in future nonrural determinations.  The Councils currently have invested and use 
their voice in shaping the proposed nonrural determination process.  Also, permanently 
prohibiting the Secretaries from changing the status of affected communities from rural to 
non-rural status would impose permanent rural status on communities in which there is 
general agreement that a non-rural designation is appropriate.  In a rapidly changing 
landscape, a statutory requirement that freezes such status to that prior to the 2007 rule 
could mean that access to wild food resources could be dominated by urban communities 
that are not in need of wild foods and are removed from traditional Alaskan culture. 

The Secretaries are presently engaged in a review of changes to the rural determinations 
under ANILCA to make them more responsive to and less onerous for Alaskans.  This has 
been a rigorous, two-year public process to seek comments on ways to improve the rural 
determination process.  The Secretaries have sought and considered input from affected 
people across the state, including Alaska natives peoples, including Federally recognized 
tribes and Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act Corporations.  A statutory freeze on the 
2007 status of all Alaskan communities would ignore the diversity of views reflected in 



32 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Subsistence Access Management Act of 2015

comments submitted to date.  While we understand there is some frustration in the length 
of time involved in the Federal rulemaking process, there is a wide diversity of need, 
values, and preferences among Alaskan communities on the rural determination 
process.  As is occurring in the current process, these voices deserve to be heard and 
thoughtfully considered, and they deserve to have an ongoing role in a process that is 
responsive to their changing landscape and community needs. 

Finally, the bill imposes an unnecessary and expensive administrative burden on the 
Secretaries to publish in the Federal Register, on an annual basis, a list of rural and 
nonrural communities.  Under the present system, the rural or nonrural status of the vast 
majority of communities in Alaska has remained unchanged during the history of the 
program.  Only a limited number of changes have been made to date, and if the proposed 
rule to eliminate the decennial rural review process is made final, then we expect even 
fewer such changes in the future.  Moreover, when the Secretaries find that a change in 
status is necessary, it is currently and would continue to be our policy to publish it in the 
Federal Register. 

Review of Rulemaking Process to Date

In 2010, the Secretary of the Interior directed the Federal Subsistence Board (Board) to 
conduct a public review of the rural determination process.  The Board deferred the 
effective date of the 2007 nonrural determination list in order to provide time to reexamine 
the rural determination process.  That deferral remains in effect today.

In 2012, the Board initiated the public review. A series of meetings and public hearings 
were held, during which the public was briefed on the current process and invited to 
provide suggestions on how to improve it.  In addition, the Board conducted three 
consultations involving 20 Alaska Native tribes and 12 Alaska Native Claims Settlement 
Act Corporations.  Through these meetings, it became clear that the public favored 
removing the rigid rural determination criteria from Secretarial regulations in favor of a 
more flexible approach that allows the Secretaries to consider a wide range of 
variables.  Specifically, the consensus view was to eliminate the following: population 
thresholds, aggregation of communities, and the mandatory decennial review.

In January of 2015, in response to this rigorous public and consultation process, the 
Secretaries published a proposed rule that would eliminate the existing rural determination 
criteria from Secretarial regulation and focus the process on making nonrural 
determinations, rather than rural determinations.  This would greatly simplify the process 
and remove the need for communities to "defend" their rural status.  It would also 
empower the public and the Councils to have a stronger role in determinations.  The 
majority of the substantive comments we received were supportive of the proposed 
rule.  The Board will meet in late July, when the Secretaries will consider 
recommendations from Board members regarding finalization of the rule. 



33Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Subsistence Access Management Act of 2015

Conclusion

In conclusion, a rural determination is at the heart of eligibility for the Federal subsistence 
priority under Title VIII of the Alaska National Interest Lands Conservation Act, and it is 
crucial to ensure that the public has a voice in those determinations.  Establishing the 
determination in statute would diminish the role of rural Alaskan residents in a process that 
would meaningfully incorporate a diversity of stakeholder needs, values, and 
preferences.  It would also diminish the ability of the Federal Subsistence Advisory 
Councils to engage in future nonrural determinations.  Also, a determination in statute 
would not readily be responsive to changes on the Alaskan landscape over time and 
would undo the hard work of a rigorous, 2-year public process and the trust of the public 
engendered through that process.

We would welcome the opportunity to provide further information on the rulemaking 
process and the proposed rule to Rep. Young and the Subcommittee and staff and 
respond to any continued questions and concerns.

Thank you again for this opportunity to present the Administration’s views on this 
legislation.



34 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

WP16-01 Executive Summary

General Description

Submitted by the Craig Tribal Association

Proposed Regulation Unit 2 - Deer

5 deer; however, no more than one may be a 
female deer. Female deer may be taken only 
during the period Oct. 15–Jan. 31. The harvest 
limit may be reduced to 4 deer based on 
conservation concerns. The Federal public 
lands on Prince of Wales Island, excluding the 
southeastern portion (lands south of the West 
Arm of Cholmondeley Sound draining into 
Cholmondeley Sound or draining eastward 
into Clarence Strait), are closed to hunting of 
deer from Aug. 1 to Aug. 15, except by 
Federally qualified subsistence users hunting 
under these regulations.

Federal Public Lands on Prince of Wales 
Island will be limited to 2 deer except by 
Federally qualified subsistence users hunting 
under these regulations.

July 24–
Jan. 31 

OSM Preliminary Conclusion Oppose

ADF&G Comments

Written Public Comments None



35Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

DRAFT STAFF ANALYSIS
WP16-01 

ISSUES

DISCUSSION

Existing Federal Regulation

Unit 2 - Deer

5 deer; however, no more than one may be a female deer. 
Female deer may be taken only during the period Oct. 15–
Dec. 31. The harvest limit may be reduced to 4 deer based on 
conservation concerns. The Federal public lands on Prince of 
Wales Island, excluding the southeastern portion (lands south 
of the West Arm of Cholmondeley Sound draining into 
Cholmondeley Sound or draining eastward into Clarence 
Strait), are closed to hunting of deer from Aug. 1 to Aug. 15, 
except by Federally qualified subsistence users hunting under 
these regulations 

July 24–Dec. 31



36 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Proposed Federal Regulation

Unit 2 - Deer

5 deer; however, no more than one may be a female deer. 
Female deer may be taken only during the period Oct. 15–
DecJan. 31. The harvest limit may be reduced to 4 deer based 
on conservation concerns. The Federal public lands on Prince 
of Wales Island, excluding the southeastern portion (lands 
south of the West Arm of Cholmondeley Sound draining into 
Cholmondeley Sound or draining eastward into Clarence 
Strait), are closed to hunting of deer from Aug. 1 to Aug. 15, 
except by Federally qualified subsistence users hunting under 
these regulations. 

Federal Public Lands on Prince of Wales Island will be 
limited to 2 deer except by Federally qualified subsistence 
users hunting under these regulations.

July 24–DecJan. 31

Existing State Regulation 

Unit 2 - deer

Residents and non-residents: Four bucks Aug. 1 – Dec. 31

Harvest tickets must be validated in sequential order, and unused tickets 
must be carried when you hunt. 

Extent of Federal Public Lands

see Unit 2 Map

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations

Regulatory History

Table 1



37Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Table 1 - Regulatory history for Unit 2 deer.



38 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 

 i

Biological Background



39Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Figure 1

Figure 1. Hypothetical maximum sustained yield graph.



40 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Figure 2

Harvest History



41Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

  

Figure 2 – Average pellet-group counts for all of Unit 2 since transects began in 1984 (McCoy 2011).  
Data labels represent the number of watersheds surveyed that year.

Figure 3
Table 2

Figure 4

Figure 5
Figure 5

Figure 6



42 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Table 2 – Deer harvest by month in Unit 2, 2003-2013 (Bethune 2015).
July August September October November December Totals

2003 78 284 287 357 566 49 1621
2004 68 310 240 481 811 61 1971
2005 210 485 393 503 895 76 2562
2006 192 501 459 541 1333 152 3178
2007 128 428 300 450 1217 121 2644
2008 116 494 362 522 1525 167 3186
2009 122 488 263 510 1655 183 3221
2010 156 471 281 595 1669 178 3350
2011 230 632 295 595 1932 197 3881
2012 143 460 302 556 1878 315 3654
2013 163 484 282 460 2105 174 3668

Figure 3 – Estimated deer harvest in Unit 2 from 1997-2013 (Bethune, 2015).



43Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Figure 4 – Estimated female deer harvest in Unit 2 from 1997-2013 (Bethune, 2015).

Figure 5 – Average number of days for hunters to harvest a deer and the average number of deer 
harvested per hunter in Unit 2 from 1997-2013 (Bethune, 2015).

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

Unit 2 Deer Harvest Statistics, 1997-2013 

Days per deer

Deer per hunter



44 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Figure 6 – Deer harvest by hunters residing in Unit 1A compared to total Unit 2 harvest from 2002-2011 
(Bethune, 2013).

Effects of the Proposal



45Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

OSM PRELIMINARY CONCLUSION

Oppose 

Justification 

LITERATURE CITED



46 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 



47Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

WP16-02 Executive Summary

General Description

Submitted by Monte Mitchell of Gustavus.

Proposed Regulation Unit 1C — Deer

4 deer; however, female deer      Aug. 1–Dec. 31 Jan. 31
may be taken  only from 
Sept. 15-Dec. 31 Jan. 31
 

 

OSM Preliminary 
Conclusion

Oppose

Southeast Advisory 
Council Recommendation

Interagency Staff 
Committee Comments

ADF&G Comments  

Written Public Comments None



48 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

DRAFT STAFF ANALYSIS
WP16-02 

ISSUES

DISCUSSION

Existing State Regulation 

Unit 1C Douglas, Lincoln, Shelter and Sullivan Islands — Deer

Residents and Nonresidents: 4 deer; female deer may be taken only 
from Sept. 15-Dec.31 

Aug. 1–Dec. 31

Unit 1C remainder — Deer

Residents and Nonresidents:  2 bucks Aug. 1–Dec. 31

Extent of Federal Public Lands

Existing Federal Regulation

Unit 1C — Deer

4 deer; however, female deer may be taken only from Sept. 15-Dec. 31 Aug. 1–Dec. 31

Proposed Federal Regulation

Unit 1C — Deer

4 deer; however, female deer may be taken only from Sept. 15-Dec. 31
Jan. 31 

Aug. 1–Dec. 
31 Jan. 31



49Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Unit 1C Map

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

Regulatory History

Biological Background



50 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Harvest History

Table 1

Table 1. Average total days hunted, percent effort for the season, total harvest, and percent of 
total harvest for the season among federally qualified subsistence users for deer in Unit 1C 
2009-2013 (McCoy 2015b)



51Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Month Total Days Hunted % Effort Total Harvest % Total Harvest
August 18.2 12 2.8 8
September 32.6 22 6.8 20
October 26.2 18 5.8 17
November 45.6 31 12.6 38
December 24.6 17 5.2 16

Effects of the Proposal

Unit 4 Map

OSM PRELIMINARY CONCLUSION

Oppose

Justification 



52 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

LITERATURE CITED



53Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

WP16-03 Executive Summary

General Description –

Submitted by Monte Mitchell of 
Gustavus.

Proposed Regulation Units 1-5—Designated Hunter  

If you are a Federally qualified subsistence user 
(recipient), you may designate another Federally 
qualified subsistence user (designated hunter) to take 
deer, moose and caribou, (and goat in Units 1-5 and 
muskox in Unit 22) on your behalf.  Designated hunters 
may hunt for any number of recipients, but have no 
more than two harvest limits in possession at any one 
time except for goats, where designated hunters may not 
have more than one harvest limit three mountain goats 
in possession at any one time, and unless otherwise 
specified in Unit-specific provisions.  Any designated 
hunter taking wildlife on behalf of another rural Alaska 
resident shall deliver the wildlife promptly to that rural 
Alaska resident.  
 

 

OSM Preliminary Conclusion Oppose

Southeast Advisory Council 
Recommendation

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

ADF&G Comments  

Written Public Comments None



54 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

DRAFT STAFF ANALYSIS
WP16-03 

ISSUES

DISCUSSION

Existing Federal Regulation

Units 1-5—Designated Hunter  

_.25(e)If you are a Federally qualified subsistence user (recipient), you may designate another 
Federally qualified subsistence user (designated hunter) to take deer, moose and caribou, (and 
goat in Units 1-5and muskox in Unit 22) on your behalf.  Designated hunters may hunt for any 
number of recipients, but have no more than two harvest limits in possession at any one time 
except for goats, where designated hunters may not have more than one harvest limit in 
possession at any one time, and unless otherwise specified in Unit-specific provisions.  Any 
designated hunter taking wildlife on behalf of another rural Alaska resident shall deliver the 
wildlife promptly to that rural Alaska resident.  

Proposed Federal Regulation

Units 1-5—Designated Hunter
If you are a Federally qualified subsistence user (recipient), you may designate another Federally 
qualified subsistence user (designated hunter) to take deer, moose and caribou, (and goat in 
Units 1-5 and muskox in Unit 22) on your behalf.  Designated hunters may hunt for any number 
of recipients, but have no more than two harvest limits in possession at any one time except for 
goats, where designated hunters may not have more than one harvest limit three mountain goats
in possession at any one time, and unless otherwise specified in Unit-specific provisions.  Any 
designated hunter taking wildlife on behalf of another rural Alaska resident shall deliver the 
wildlife promptly to that rural Alaska resident.  



55Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Existing State Regulation 

Units 1-5 

N/A (there is no designated hunter system under the State, and currently goats are not allowed 
under the proxy hunting authority) 

Extent of Federal Public Lands

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 



56 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Regulatory History

Table 1
 Table 2



57Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Biological Background



58 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Harvest History

Table 3



59Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Table 3. Reported harvest of goats (total and % of harvest) in Units 1-5, 2010-2014 (Sell 2015).
Designation of Federally qualified subsistence user is based on harvester’s community of 
residence.
Unit Non-federally 

qualified resident 
user

Federally 
qualified 

subsistence user

Non-
resident

Total

1A 37 (51%) 16 (22%) 20 (27%) 73
1B 17 (22%) 26 (33%) 35 (45%) 78
1C 63 (33%) 1 (1%) 126 (66%) 190
1D 11 (8%) 108 (76%) 24 (17%) 143
4 12 (12%) 70 (70%) 18 (18%) 101
5A 1 (20%) 3 (60%) 1 (20%) 5
Unknown 3 100%) 0 0 3



60 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Other Alternatives Considered

Effects of the Proposal



61Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

OSM PRELIMINARY CONCLUSION

Oppose

Justification 

LITERATURE CITED

Oreamnos americanus



62 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals



63Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals



64 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Appendix

Table 1. Summary of State Emergency Orders for Mountain Goats in Units 1-5, 2013-2014

Emergency 
Order Number

Area Summary of Action 

01-01-13 Unit 4 Closure of the resident and nonresident mountain goat hunting season in 
the following portions of hunt area RG150; 1) that portion including Blue 
Lake, Glacier Lake drainages, 2) that portion including Medvejie Lake, 
Bear Lake, Indigo Lake drainages, and drainages into the east side of 
Silver Bay between Bear Cove and Manit Point, and 3) that portion of the 
south Katlian River drainage including the drainage south of the south 
bank of the Katlian River, and that portion south of the south bank of the 
main stream draining into and out of Hogan Lake on Baranof Island, 
effective 1159PM July 24, 2013

01-02-13 Unit 5A Closure of the portion of the mountain goat hunting season under the 
state registration permit RG170 in Unit 5A:  closed area begins on the 
west shore of Harlequin Lake and the western edge of the Yakutat 
Glacier; then west of Harlequin Lake and Yakutat Glacier to Yakutat Bay 
and Disenchantment Bay; and south of Russell and Nunatak Fiords, 
effective 1159PM  July 31 2013

01-03-13 Unit 4 Closure of the Nakwasina River drainage portion of the Unit 4 registration 
goat hunt (RG150), effective 1159PM August 23, 2013

01-04-13 Unit 4 Closure of the Redoubt Bay/Necker Bay Zone of RG150 in Unit 4 to 
mountain goat hunting season, effective 1159PM September 11, 2013

01-05-13 Unit 1D Closure of the 7-mile ridge/Tukgahgo Mt. area of the Takshanuk 
Mountains in GMU 1D mountain goat hunting season in Tukgahgo 
Mountain area effective 1159PM September 17, 2013

01-06-13 Unit 1C Closure of that portion of Unit 1C mountain goat hunting season under the 
state registration permit hunt RG012, for that portion of Unit 1C from 
Eagle Glacier and Eagle River to Sawmill Creek, effective 1159pm 
September 30, 2013

01-08-13 Unit 1D Early closure to mountain goat hunting season (RG023) in the Takshanuk 
Mountain Range, east of the Haines Highway and Chilkat River, west of 
Chilkoot Lake and River, and north to Goat Hollow, effective 1159PM 
October 4, 2013

01-09-13 Unit 1D Closure of the mountain goat hunting season in the areas bounded by the 
White Pass and Yukon Railroad on the west side, the East Fork of the 
Skagway River on the south side, and the Canadian border to the north 
and east side, effective 1159PM October 5, 2013

01-11-13 Unit 1D Closure of the mountain goat hunting season in the area bounded by the 
East Fork of the Skagway River on the north side, Kasidaya Creek on the 
south side, Taiya Inlet, and the White Pass and Yukon Railroad on the 
west, and the Canadian border on the east at 1159PM, November 21, 
2013



65Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

01-12-13 Unit 4 Closure of the mountain goat hunting season in the North Fork of the 
Katalian River Area portion of the Unit 4 registration goat hunt (RG150), 
effective 1159PM December 24, 2013

01-02-14 Unit 4 Closure of the mountain goat hunting season in the South Katlian and 
blue/Medvejie Lakes Drainages, effective 1159PM July 31, 2014

01-03-14 Unit 5 Closure to a portion of the mountain goat hunting season under the state 
registration permit hunt RG170 in Unit 5A.  The closed area begins on the 
west shore of Harlequin Lake and the western edge of the Yakutat 
Glacier; then west of Harlequin Lake and Yakutat Glacier to Yakutat Bay 
and Disenchantment Bay; and south of Russell and Nunatak Fiords, 
effective 1159PM July 31, 2014

01-04-14 Unit 4 Closure of the mountain goat hunting season in the N. Fork of the Katlian 
River Area portion of the Unit 4 registration goat hunt (RG150), effective 
1159PM August 29, 2014

01-05-14 Unit 1D Closure of the mountain goat hunting season between Kicking Horse 
River and Sullivan River (RG026) in Unit 1D, effective 1159PM 
September 9, 2014

01-06-14 Unit 1D Closure of the mountain goat hunting season in Tukgahgo Mountain area 
of Unit 1D, effective 1159PM September 18, 2014

01-07-14 Unit 1D Closure of the mountain goat hunting season (RG024) in the area 
bounded by the East Fork of the Skagway River on the north side, 
Kasidaya Creek on the south side, Taiya Inlet, and the White Pass and 
Yukon Railroad on the west, and the Canadian border on the east, 
effective 1159pm September 24, 2014

01-08-14 Unit 1D Closure of the mountain goat hunting season (RG024) in the areas 
bounded by the White Pass and Yukon Railroad on the west side, the 
East Fork of the Skagway River on the south side, and the Canadian 
border to the north and east side, effective 1159PM September 27, 2014

01-09-14 Unit 1D Closure of the mountain goat hunting season (RG023) in the Takshanuk 
Mountain Range, east of the Haines Highway and Chilkat River, west of 
Chilkoot Lake and River, and north to Goat Hollow, effective 1159PM 
October 10, 2014

01-10-14 Unit 1C Closure of the mountain goat hunting season (RG012) for that portion of 
unit 1C from Sawmill Creek north to the Gilkey River

01-12-14 Unit 1D Closure of the mountain goat hunting season (RG023) along Chilkoot 
Lake and Lutak Inlet, from Taiyasanka Harbor to the northern end of 
Chilkoot Lake, effective 1159PM October 17, 2014

01-13-14 Unit 1D Closure of the mountain goat hunting season (RG024) in the area 
bounded by West Creek on the north side, Taiyasanka Harbor on the 
south side, Ferebee River/Glacier on the west, and the Taiya Inlet and 
River on the east, effective 1159pm November 7, 2014

01-14-14 Unit 1D Closure of the mountain goat hunting season (RG024) along the eastern 
shore of Taiya Inlet, from Dayebas Creek north to Kasidaya Creek, and 
east to the Canadian border, effective 1159PM November 29, 2014



66 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Table 2. Summary of Special Actions for Mountain Goats in Units 1-5, 2011-2014

Special Action 
Number

Area & Species 
Affected

Summary of Action 

WSA-13-MG-04-11 Unit 4
Baranof Island
mountain goat

Closed the watersheds of Blue Lake, Medvejie Lake 
and the southern half of the Katlian River watershed 
on Baranof Island to the harvest of mountain goats 
from August 1 through December 31, 2011.

WSA-13-MG-08-11 Unit 4
Baranof Island
mountain goat

Closed the Nakwasina River watershed on Baranof 
Island to the harvest of mountain goats from Aug. 12 
through Dec. 31, 2011.

WSA-13-MG-10-11 Unit 4
Baranof Island
mountain goat

Closed the Green Lake and Vodopad watersheds on 
Baranof Island to the harvest of mountain goats from 
Sept. 29 through Dec. 31, 2011.

WSA-13-MG-11-11 Unit 4
Baranof Island
mountain goat

Closed the Redoubt Bay-Necker Bay Zone on 
Baranof Island to the harvest of mountain goats from 
Sept. 30 through Dec. 31, 2011.

WSA-13-MG-12-11 Unit 4
Baranof Island
mountain goat

Closed the north fork of the Katlian River and Coxe
River drainages and that portion of the unnamed 
drainage west of Coxe River and north of Cedar 
Cove that drains into Nakwasina Sound on Baranof 
Island to the harvest of mountain goats from  Oct. 15 
through Dec. 31, 2011.

WSA-13-MG-13-11 Unit 4
Baranof Island
mountain goat

Closed all drainages into Baranof Warm Springs 
Bay, Cascade Bay, Nelson Bay, Red Bluff Bay, Falls 
Lake, Hoggatt Bay, Gut Bay, Yermak Lake, 
Patterson Bay, Deep Cove, and all un-named 
drainages from Baranof Warm Springs Bay south to 
Deep Cove that enter Chatham Strait (known as the 
Mt. Furuhelm - Mt. Ada Zone) on Baranof Island to 
the harvest of mountain goats from Dec. 15 through 
Dec. 31, 2011.

WSA 13-MG-04-12 Unit 4
Baranof Island
mountain goat

Closed the watersheds of Blue Lake, Medvejie Lake 
and the southern half of the Katlian River watershed 
on Baranof Island to the harvest of mountain goats 
from August 1 through December 31, 2012.

WSA 13-MG-07-13 Unit 4
Baranof Island
mountain goat

Closed the watersheds of Blue Lake, Medvejie Lake 
and the South Fork Katlian River watershed on 
Baranof Island to the harvest of mountain goats from 
August 1 through December 31, 2013.

WSA 13-MG-08-13 Unit 4
Baranof Island
mountain goat

Closed the Federal goat hunting season within the 
Nakwasina River watershed on Baranof Island 
August 28 through October 26, 2013.  

WSA 13-MG-09-13 Unit 4 Closed the Federal goat hunting season within the 



67Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Baranof Island
mountain goat

Redoubt-Necker Bay zone on Baranof Island 
September 12 through November 10, 2013.  

WSA 13-MG-10-13 Unit 4
Baranof Island
mountain goat

Extended previous Federal goat hunting closures in 
the watersheds of Blue Lake, Medvejie Lake, South 
Fork Katlian River and Nakwasina River watersheds 
and the Redoubt-Necker Bay zone on Baranof Island 
in Unit 4 from September 19 through the remainder 
of the 2013 season.

WSA 13-MG-13-13 Unit 4
Baranof Island
mountain goat

Closed the Federal goat hunting season within the 
North Fork Katlian River zone on Baranof Island 
December 27 through December 31, 2013.  

WSA 13-MG-04-14 Unit 4
Baranof Island
mountain goat

Closed the Blue Lake, Medvejie Lake and the South 
Fork Katlian River watersheds on Baranof Island to 
the harvest of mountain goats from August 1 through 
December 31, 2014.

WSA 13-MG-05-14 Unit 4
Baranof Island
mountain goat

Closed the Federal goat hunting season within the 
North Fork Katlian River zone on Baranof Island 
August 30 through December 31, 2014.  



68 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

WP16-04 Executive Summary

General Description –

Proposed Regulation Unit 1C remainder—Moose
1 antlered bull by State                          Sept. 15–Oct. 15
registration permit only 

Unit 5B — Moose                     
1 antlered bull by State registration      Sept. 1–Dec. 15
permit only.  The season will be  
closed when 25 antlered bulls have
been taken from Unit 5B 

 

OSM Preliminary Conclusion Support

Southeast Advisory Council 
Recommendation

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

ADF&G Comments  

Written Public Comments None



69Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

DRAFT STAFF ANALYSIS
WP16-04 

ISSUES

–

DISCUSSION

Existing Federal Regulation

1 antlered bull by State registration permit only

Sept. 15–Oct. 15

1 antlered bull by State registration permit only.  The season will be 
closed when 25 antlered bulls have been taken from the entirety of Unit 
5B

Sept. 1–Dec. 15

Proposed Federal Regulation

Unit 1C remainder—Moose 

1 antlered bull by State registration permit only Sept. 15–Oct. 15

Unit 5B — Moose

1 antlered bull by State registration permit only.  The season will be 
closed when 25 antlered bulls have been taken from Unit 5B

Sept. 1–Dec. 15

Existing State Regulation 



70 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Extent of Federal Public Lands

Unit 1C Map

Unit 5 Map

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

Regulatory History

Current Events Involving Species

Unit 1C remainder — Moose

One bull by permit available in Douglas, Ketchikan, Petersburg, 
Sitka, or by mail from Douglas or online at http://hunt.alaska.gov
beginning Aug. 18 

Unit 5B — Moose

Sept. 15–Oct. 15

One bull by permit, available in Douglas or Yakutat or by mail from 
Douglas or online at http://hunt.alaska.gov beginning Aug. 28 

Sept. 1–Dec. 15



71Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Biological Background

Harvest History

Table 1

Table 1

Table 1



72 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Table 1. Total harvest, number of hunters, hunter days, and percent success of all users for 
moose in Unit 5B, 2007-2010 (Scott 2010, 2012a)

Year Harvest Number of Hunters Hunter Days Percent success

2007 10 35 175 29

2008 9 31 161 29

2009 11 30 120 37

2010 4 12 33 33

Effects of the Proposal

OSM PRELIMINARY CONCLUSION

Support

Justification 



73Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

LITERATURE CITED



74 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

WP16-05 Executive Summary

General Description
Submitted by the 

Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council

Proposed Regulation Unit 2—Deer

5 deer; however, no more than one may be a 
female deer. Female deer may be taken only 
during the period Oct. 15–Dec. 31. The harvest 
limit may be reduced to 4 deer based on 
conservation concerns. The Federal public lands 
on Prince of Wales Island, excluding the 
southeastern portion (lands south of the West 
Arm of Cholmondeley Sound draining into 
Cholmondeley Sound or draining eastward into 
Clarence Strait), are closed to hunting of deer 
from Aug. 1 to Aug. 15, except by Federally 
qualified subsistence users hunting under these 
regulations.

July 24–Dec. 
31

OSM Preliminary Conclusion Support 

ADF&G Comments

Written Public Comments None



75Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

DRAFT STAFF ANALYSIS
WP16-05 

ISSUES

DISCUSSION

The harvest limit may be reduced to 4 deer based on conservation 
concerns

Existing Federal Regulation

Unit 2—Deer

5 deer; however, no more than one may be a female deer. Female deer 
may be taken only during the period Oct. 15–Dec. 31. The harvest 
limit may be reduced to 4 deer based on conservation concerns. The 
Federal public lands on Prince of Wales Island, excluding the 
southeastern portion (lands south of the West Arm of Cholmondeley 
Sound draining into Cholmondeley Sound or draining eastward into 
Clarence Strait), are closed to hunting of deer from Aug. 1 to Aug. 15, 
except by Federally qualified subsistence users hunting under these 
regulations. 

July 24–Dec. 31

Proposed Federal Regulation



76 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Unit 2—Deer

5 deer; however, no more than one may be a female deer. Female deer 
may be taken only during the period Oct. 15–Dec. 31. The harvest limit 
may be reduced to 4 deer based on conservation concerns. The Federal 
public lands on Prince of Wales Island, excluding the southeastern 
portion (lands south of the West Arm of Cholmondeley Sound draining 
into Cholmondeley Sound or draining eastward into Clarence Strait), 
are closed to hunting of deer from Aug. 1 to Aug. 15, except by 
Federally qualified subsistence users hunting under these regulations. 

July 24–Dec. 31

Existing State Regulation 

Unit 2 - deer

Residents and non-residents: Four bucks Aug. 1 – Dec. 31

Harvest tickets must be validated in sequential order, and unused tickets 
must be carried when you hunt. 

Extent of Federal Public Lands

see Unit 2 Map

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

Regulatory History

Table 1



77Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Table 1 - Regulatory history for Unit 2 deer.



78 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Biological Background

Figure 1



79Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Figure 1. Hypothetical maximum sustained yield graph.

Figure 2



80 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Harvest History

Figure 2 – Average pellet-group counts for all of Unit 2 since transects began in 1984 (McCoy 2011).  
Data labels represent the number of watersheds surveyed that year.



81Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Figure 3
Table 2

Figure 4

Figure 5
Figure 5

Table 2 – Deer harvest by month in Unit 2, 2003-2013 (Bethune 2015).

July August September October November December Totals
2003 78 284 287 357 566 49 1621
2004 68 310 240 481 811 61 1971
2005 210 485 393 503 895 76 2562
2006 192 501 459 541 1333 152 3178
2007 128 428 300 450 1217 121 2644
2008 116 494 362 522 1525 167 3186
2009 122 488 263 510 1655 183 3221
2010 156 471 281 595 1669 178 3350
2011 230 632 295 595 1932 197 3881
2012 143 460 302 556 1878 315 3654
2013 163 484 282 460 2105 174 3668



82 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Figure 3 – Estimated deer harvest in Unit 2 from 1997-2013 (Bethune, 2015).

Figure 4 – Estimated female deer harvest in Unit 2 from 1997-2013 (Bethune, 2015).



83Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Figure 5 – Average number of days for hunters to harvest a deer and the average number of deer 
harvested per hunter in Unit 2 from 1997-2013 (Bethune, 2015).

Figure 6 – Deer harvest by hunters residing in Unit 1A compared to total Unit 2 harvest from 2002-2011 
(Bethune, 2013).

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

Unit 2 Deer Harvest Statistics, 1997-2013 

Days per deer

Deer per hunter



84 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Effects of the Proposal

.

OSM PRELIMINARY CONCLUSION

Support

Justification 

LITERATURE CITED



85Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 



86 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

WP16-06 Executive Summary

General Description –
Submitted by the Southeast 

Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council.

Proposed Regulation Unit 5

Unit 5A consists of all drainages east of Yakutat Bay, 
Disenchantment Bay, and the eastern edge of Hubbard 
Glacier; and includes the islands of Yakutat and 
Disenchantment Bays. In Unit 5A, Nunatak Bench is 
defined as that area east of the Hubbard Glacier, 
north of Nunatak fiord, and north and east of the East 
Nunatak Glacier to the Canadian Border. 

 

 

OSM Preliminary Conclusion Support

ADF&G Comments  

Southeast Advisory Council 
Recommendation

 

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

 

Written Public Comments None 



87Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

DRAFT STAFF ANALYSIS
WP16-06 

ISSUES

DISCUSSION

Existing Federal Regulation

Unit 5

Unit 5A consists of all drainages east of Yakutat Bay, Disenchantment Bay, 
and the eastern edge of Hubbard Glacier; and includes the islands of 
Yakutat and Disenchantment Bays.  

Proposed Federal Regulation

Unit 5

Unit 5A consists of all drainages east of Yakutat Bay, 
Disenchantment Bay, and the eastern edge of Hubbard Glacier; and 
includes the islands of Yakutat and Disenchantment Bays. In Unit 
5A, Nunatak Bench is defined as that area east of the Hubbard 
Glacier, north of Nunatak fiord, and north and east of the East 
Nunatak Glacier to the Canadian Border.  

Existing State Regulation



88 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Unit 5
Unit 5A: all drainages east of Yakutat Bay, Disenchantment 
Bay, and eastern edge of Hubbard Glacier, and includes the 
islands of Yakutat and Disenchantment Bays. 

That portion south of Wrangell-St. Elias National Park, north and 
east of Russell and Nunatak Fiords, and east of the east side of East 
Nunatak Glacier to the Canadian border (Nunatak Bench)   

Extent of Federal Public Lands

Map 1



89Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Regulatory History

(Map 2)

Map 2.

Effects of the Proposal



90 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

OSM PRELIMINARY CONCLUSION

Support

Justification 



91Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

WP16-07 Executive Summary

General Description
Submitted by the Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council

Proposed Regulation In Units 1-5, a firearm may be used to take beaver under a trapping 
license during an open beaver season.

OSM Preliminary Conclusion Support with modification.  

In Units 1-5, a firearm may be used to take beaver under a trapping 
license during an open beaver season, except on National Park 
Service lands.

ADF&G Comments

Written Public Comments None



92 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

DRAFT STAFF ANALYSIS
WP16-07 

ISSUES

DISCUSSION

Existing Federal Regulation

§242.26(d)   The following methods and means of trapping furbearers for subsistence uses pursuant to the 
requirements of a trapping license are prohibited, in addition to the prohibitions listed at paragraph (b) 
of this section:

(3)Taking beaver by any means other than a steel trap or snare, except that you may use firearms 
in certain Units with established seasons as identified in Unit-specific regulations found in this 
subpart; 

Units 1, 2, 3 except Mitkof Island and Unit 4 – Beaver (trapping)

No limit Dec. 1 – May 15

Unit 3 Mitkof Island – Beaver (trapping)

No limit Dec. 1 – Apr. 15

Units 5 – Beaver (trapping)

No limit Nov. 10 – May 15

When taking wildlife for subsistence purposes, trappers may not:

Under a trapping license, take a free-ranging furbearer with a firearm on NPS lands. 



93Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Proposed Federal Regulation

§242.26(d) The following methods and means of trapping furbearers for subsistence uses pursuant to the 
requirements of a trapping license are prohibited, in addition to the prohibitions listed at paragraph (b) 
of this section:

(3)Taking beaver by any means other than a steel trap or snare, except that you may use firearms 
in certain Units with established seasons as identified in Unit-specific regulations found in this 
subpart; 

Units 1, 2, 3 except Mitkof Island and Unit 4 – Beaver (trapping)

No limit Dec. 1 – May 15

Unit 3 Mitkof Island – Beaver (trapping)

No limit Dec. 1 – Apr. 15

Units 5 – Beaver (trapping)

No limit Nov. 10 – May 15

When taking wildlife for subsistence purposes, trappers may not:

 Under a trapping license, take a free-ranging furbearer with a firearm on NPS lands. 

In Units 1-5, a firearm may be used to take beaver under a trapping license during an open beaver 
season.

Existing State Regulation 

 Beaver must be sealed within 30 days of the close of the season.

Unit 1-5 – Beaver (trapping)

No limit Nov. 10 – Apr. 30 

Extent of Federal Public Lands



94 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

Regulatory History

a snare, trap, mesh, or other 
implement designed to entrap animals others than fish

taking or attempting to take wildlife with a trap

Biological Background

Harvest History

Table 
1



95Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

Table 1 – Beaver harvest in Units 1-5 from 2000-2013 (Bethune 2015, pers. comm.) 
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Total

Unit 1 67 21 55 44 55 55 36 60 54 98 49 60 100 74 828

Unit 2 302 221 144 345 214 182 53 309 113 249 177 195 189 178 2871

Unit 3 139 110 86 43 61 43 16 11 27 41 17 11 55 77 737

Unit 4 14 1 4 5 2 1 12 18 7 19 15 26 33 157

Unit 5 7 17 7 9 8 4 7 3 3 8 5 78

Total 515 366 303 443 344 290 106 392 216 402 265 284 378 367 4671

Effects of the Proposal

OSM PRELIMINARY CONCLUSION

Support with modification.  

In Units 1-5, a firearm may be used to take beaver under a trapping license during an open beaver 
season, except on National Park Service lands.

Justification 



96 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

LITERATURE CITED

 



97Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 

WP16-08 Executive Summary

General Description
Submitted by the Southeast Alaska 

Subsistence Regional Advisory Council

Proposed Regulation Unit 2—Deer

5 deer; however, no more than one may be 
a female deer. Female deer may be taken 
only during the period Oct. 15–Dec. 31. . 
Harvest ticket number five must be used 
when recording the harvest of a female 
deer, but may be used for recording the 
harvest of a male deer.  Harvest tickets 
must be used in order except when 
recording a female deer on tag number 
five. The harvest limit may be reduced to 4 
deer based on conservation concerns. The 
Federal public lands on Prince of Wales 
Island, excluding the southeastern portion 
(lands south of the West Arm of 
Cholmondeley Sound draining into 
Cholmondeley Sound or draining eastward 
into Clarence Strait), are closed to hunting 
of deer from Aug. 1 to Aug. 15, except by 
Federally qualified subsistence users 
hunting under these regulations.

July 24–Dec. 
31

OSM Preliminary Conclusion Support 

ADF&G Comments

Written Public Comments None



98 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 
 

DRAFT STAFF ANALYSIS
WP16-08 

ISSUES

DISCUSSION

Existing Federal Regulation

§242.6   Licenses, permits, harvest tickets, tags, and reports. 

(a) If you wish to take fish and wildlife on public lands for subsistence uses, you must be an eligible rural 
Alaska resident and:

(1) Possess the pertinent valid Alaska resident hunting and trapping licenses (no license required 
to take fish or shellfish, but you must be an Alaska resident) unless Federal licenses are required 
or unless otherwise provided for in subpart D of this part;  

(2) Possess and comply with the provisions of any pertinent Federal permits (Federal Subsistence 
Registration Permit or Federal Designated Harvester Permit) required by subpart D of this part; 
and

(3) Possess and comply with the provisions of any pertinent permits, harvest tickets, or tags 
required by the State unless any of these documents or individual provisions in them are 
superseded by the requirements in subpart D of this part.

Unit 2 - Deer

5 deer; however, no more than one may be a female deer. 
Female deer may be taken only during the period Oct. 15–
Dec. 31. The harvest limit may be reduced to 4 deer based on 
conservation concerns. The Federal public lands on Prince of 
Wales Island, excluding the southeastern portion (lands south 
of the West Arm of Cholmondeley Sound draining into 
Cholmondeley Sound or draining eastward into Clarence 

July 24–Dec. 31



99Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 

Strait), are closed to hunting of deer from Aug. 1 to Aug. 15, 
except by Federally qualified subsistence users hunting under 
these regulations 

Proposed Federal Regulation

§242.6   Licenses, permits, harvest tickets, tags, and reports. 

(a) If you wish to take fish and wildlife on public lands for subsistence uses, you must be an eligible rural 
Alaska resident and:

(1) Possess the pertinent valid Alaska resident hunting and trapping licenses (no license required 
to take fish or shellfish, but you must be an Alaska resident) unless Federal licenses are required 
or unless otherwise provided for in subpart D of this part;  

(2) Possess and comply with the provisions of any pertinent Federal permits (Federal Subsistence 
Registration Permit or Federal Designated Harvester Permit) required by subpart D of this part; 
and

(3) Possess and comply with the provisions of any pertinent permits, harvest tickets, or tags 
required by the State unless any of these documents or individual provisions in them are 
superseded by the requirements in subpart D of this part.

Unit 2 - Deer

5 deer; however, no more than one may be a female deer. 
Female deer may be taken only during the period Oct. 15–Dec. 
31. Harvest ticket number five must be used when recording 
the harvest of a female deer, but may be used for recording 
the harvest of a male deer.  Harvest tickets must be used in 
order except when recording a female deer on tag number 
five.  The harvest limit may be reduced to 4 deer based on 
conservation concerns. The Federal public lands on Prince of 
Wales Island, excluding the southeastern portion (lands south 
of the West Arm of Cholmondeley Sound draining into 
Cholmondeley Sound or draining eastward into Clarence 
Strait), are closed to hunting of deer from Aug. 1 to Aug. 15, 
except by Federally qualified subsistence users hunting under 
these regulations. 

July 24–Dec. 31



100 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 
 

Existing State Regulation 

Unit 2 - deer

Residents and non-residents: Four bucks Aug. 1 – Dec. 31

Harvest tickets must be validated in sequential order, and unused tickets 
must be carried when you hunt. 

Extent of Federal Public Lands

see Unit 2 Map

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

Regulatory History



101Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 
 

I'm not in favor of this proposal, but it does identify a loophole which has been there for two or 
three years now. We have another system that does not address it, so at some point somebody is 
going to have to address this so we can adequately deal with it so the loophole is closed and 
everybody is happy. I'm not convinced that there's a high number of people using this loophole, 
but it's evident that some are. I've had a couple people come to me and pointed this out and it's a 
concern of theirs. But how to fix it, I don't know. 

Biological Background



102 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 

Figure 1

Figure 1. Hypothetical maximum sustained yield graph.



103Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 

Figure 2

Figure 2 – Average pellet-group counts for all of Unit 2 since transects began in 1984 (McCoy 2011).  
Data labels represent the number of watersheds surveyed that year.

Harvest History



104 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 

Figure 3
Figure 4

Effects of the Proposal

Figure 3 – Estimated female deer harvest in Unit 2 from 1997-2013 (Bethune, 2015).



105Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 

Figure 4 – Estimated deer harvest in Unit 2 from 1997-2013 (Bethune, 2015).

OSM PRELIMINARY CONCLUSION

Support

Justification 

LITERATURE CITED



106 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 

 



107Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 
 

WP16-09 Executive Summary

General Description

 Submitted by the Alaska 
Department of Fish and Game. 

Proposed Regulation §___.26(n)(3)(iii)  

Units 1, 2, 3 (except Kuiu Island), and 4 – Marten 
(Trapping) 
Dec. 1-Feb. 15 
No limit  

Kuiu Island portion of Unit 3
No open season 
 

OSM Preliminary Conclusion Support with modification

Units 1, 2, 3 (except Kuiu Island),
and 4 – Marten (Trapping)

Dec. 1-Feb. 
15

No limit

Kuiu Island portion of Unit 3

No limit

Dec. 1-Dec. 
31

Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional 
Advisory Council Recommendation

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

ADF&G Comments

Written Public Comments None



108 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 
 

DRAFT STAFF ANALYSIS
WP16-09 

ISSUES

DISCUSSION

Martes americana M. caurina

Existing Federal Regulation

Units 1, 2, 3, and 4—Marten (Trapping) 

No limit Dec. 1–Feb. 15 

Proposed Federal Regulation

Units 1, 2, 3 (except Kuiu Island), and 4 – Marten (Trapping) Dec. 1-Feb. 15

No limit

Kuiu Island portion of Unit 3 No open season 

Existing State Regulation 

Units 1-3 (except Kuiu Island)-Marten (Trapping)

No limit Dec. 1-Feb. 15

Unit 3, Kuiu Island No open season



109Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 
 

Extent of Federal Public Lands

(Map 1).

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 



110 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 

Map 1. 



111Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 
 

Regulatory History



112 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 
 

Biological Background

caurina americana

caurina



113Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 
 

Habitat 



114 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 
 

Harvest History

Figure 1

Figure 1. Marten harvest on Kuiu Island, 1984-2014 seasons. 

Other Alternative(s) Considered

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

19
84

19
85

19
86

19
87

19
88

19
89

19
90

19
91

19
92

19
93

19
94

19
95

19
96

19
97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

Marten Harvest, Kuiu Island 

Marten Harvest

Preliminary Data, subject to revision 



115Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 
 

Effects of the Proposal 

OSM PRELIMINARY CONCLUSION

Support with modification

Units 1, 2, 3 (except Kuiu Island), and 4 – Marten (Trapping) Dec. 1-Feb. 15

No limit

Kuiu Island portion of Unit 3

No limit

Dec. 1-Dec. 31

Justification 

Literature Cited



116 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 
 

Martes caurina



117Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Regional Wildlife Proposals

 
 



118 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

FISHERIES RESOURCE MONITORING PROGRAM

BACKGROUND

Beginning in 1999, the Federal government assumed expanded management responsibility for subsistence 
fisheries on Federal public lands in Alaska under the authority of Title VIII of the Alaska National 
Interest Lands Conservation Act (ANILCA). Expanded subsistence fisheries management introduced 
substantial new informational needs for the Federal system.  Section 812 of ANILCA directs the 
Departments of the Interior and Agriculture, cooperating with the State of Alaska and other Federal 
agencies, to undertake research on fish and wildlife and subsistence uses on Federal public lands. To 
increase the quantity and quality of information available for management of subsistence fisheries, the 
Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program (Monitoring Program) was established within the Office of 
Subsistence Management (OSM). The Monitoring Program was envisioned as a collaborative 
interagency, interdisciplinary approach to enhance existing fisheries research, and effectively 
communicate information needed for subsistence fisheries management on Federal public lands. 

Biennially, the Office of Subsistence Management announces a funding opportunity for investigation 
plans addressing subsistence fisheries on Federal public lands. The 2016 Notice of Funding Availability 
focused on priority information needs developed either by strategic planning efforts or subject matter 
specialist input, followed by review and comment by the Subsistence Regional Advisory Councils.  The 
Monitoring Program is administered through regions, which were developed to match subsistence 
management regulations, as well as stock, harvest, and community issues common to a geographic area.  
The six Monitoring Program regions are shown in Figure 1.

Figure 1. Geographic Regions for the Fisheries Resource Monitoring 
Program. 



119Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

To implement the Monitoring Program, a collaborative approach is utilized in which five Federal 
agencies (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Bureau of Land Management, National Park Service, Bureau of 
Indian Affairs, and U.S. Forest Service) work with the Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Regional 
Advisory Councils, Alaska Native Organizations, and other organizations.  An interagency Technical 
Review Committee provides scientific evaluation of investigation plans submitted for funding 
consideration.  The Regional Advisory Councils provide review and recommendations, and public 
comment is invited.  The Interagency Staff Committee also provides recommendations.  The Federal 
Subsistence Board takes into consideration recommendations and comments from the process, and 
forwards a Monitoring Plan to the Assistant Regional Director of OSM for final approval.

Strategic plans sponsored by the Monitoring Program have been developed by workgroups of fisheries 
managers, researchers, Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory Councils, and by other stakeholders for 
three of the six regions: Southeast, Southcentral (excluding Cook Inlet Area), and Southwest Alaska.  
These plans identify prioritized information needs for each major subsistence fishery and are available for 
viewing on the Federal Subsistence Management, Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program website 
(http://www.doi.gov/subsistence/index.cfm).  Individual copies of plans are available by placing a request 
to the Office of Subsistence Management. Independent strategic plans were completed for the Yukon and 
Kuskokwim regions for salmon in 2005.  For the Northern Region and the Cook Inlet Area, assessments 
of priority information needs were developed from experts on the Regional Advisory Councils, the 
Technical Review Committee, Federal and State managers, and staff from the Office of Subsistence 
Management.  Finally, a strategic plan specifically for research on whitefish species in the Yukon and 
Kuskokwim River drainages was completed in spring 2011 as a result of efforts supported through 
Monitoring Program project 08-206 (Yukon and Kuskokwim Coregonid Strategic Plan).  Currently, all 
regional strategic plans need to be updated.  The OSM, in collaboration with Regional Advisory Councils 
and agency partners, will be exploring methods to update these plans, develop a schedule into the future 
and ensure they are current and represent the most up-to-date information about subsistence needs and 
concerns throughout the state.

HISTORICAL OVERVIEW

The Monitoring Program was first implemented in 2000, with an initial allocation of $5 million. Since 
2001, a total of $103.6 million has been allocated for the Monitoring Program to fund a total of 431 
projects (Figure 2; Figure 3).



120 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

Figure 2. Total Project funds through the Monitoring Program from 2000 through 2014 listed by 
the organization of the Principal Investigator for projects funded.  The funds listed are the total 
approved funds from 2000 to 2014.  DOI = Department of Interior and DOA = Department of 
Agriculture.

Figure 3. The total number of projects funded through the Monitoring Program from 2000 through 
2014 listed by the organization of Principal Investigator.  DOI = Department of Interior and DOA = 
Department of Agriculture.

During each biennial funding cycle, the Monitoring Program budget funds ongoing multi-year projects (2, 
3 or 4 years) as well as new projects.  Budget guidelines are established by geographic region (Table 1)
and data type.  The regional guidelines were developed using six criteria that included level of risk to 
species, level of threat to conservation units, amount of subsistence needs not being met,  amount of 
information available to support subsistence management, importance of a species to subsistence harvest 
and level of user concerns with subsistence harvest.  Budget guidelines provide an initial target for 
planning; however they are not final allocations and will be adjusted annually as needed (Figure 5; 
Figure 6).



121Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

Table 1. Regional allocation guideline for Fisheries Resource Monitoring Funds.

Region
Department of Interior 

Funds
Department of Agriculture 

Funds
Northern 17% 0%
Yukon 29% 0%

Kuskokwim 29% 0%
Southwest 15% 0%

Southcentral 5% 33%
Southeast 0% 67%

Inter-regional 5% 0%

Figure 4. Total Project funding by Geographic Region from 2000 through 2014.  

Two primary types of research projects are solicited for the Monitoring Program including Harvest 
Monitoring/Traditional Ecological Knowledge (HMTEK) and Stock, Status and Trends (SST), although 
projects that combine these approaches are also encouraged.  Project funding by type is shown in Figure 
5.  Definitions of the two project types are listed below:

Stock Status and Trends Studies (SST) - These projects address abundance, composition, 
timing, behavior, or status of fish populations that sustain subsistence fisheries with linkage to 
Federal public lands.

Harvest Monitoring and Traditional Ecological Knowledge (HMTEK) -These projects 
address assessment of subsistence fisheries including quantification of harvest and effort, and 
description and assessment of fishing and use patterns. 



122 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

Figure 5. Total Project funding by type from 2000 through 2014.  HMTEK = Harvest 
Monitoring/Traditional Ecological Knowledge and SST = Stock, Status and Trends.

PROJECT EVALUATION PROCESS

In the current climate of increasing conservation concerns and subsistence needs, it is imperative that the 
Monitoring Program prioritizes high quality projects that address critical subsistence questions.  Several 
changes were implemented in the 2016 Monitoring Program to address the challenges facing Federal 
subsistence users across the state.  These changes will enhance the Monitoring Program by increasing 
overall program transparency, identifying and funding high quality and high priority research projects and 
maximizing funding opportunities.  This will allow the Monitoring Program to make substantial 
contributions to Federal subsistence users and to the Federal Subsistence Management Program.  

Projects are selected for funding through an evaluation and review process that is designed to advance 
projects that are strategically important for the Federal Subsistence Program, technically sound, 
administratively competent, promote partnerships and capacity building, and are cost effective. Projects 
are evaluated by a panel called the Technical Review Committee (TRC). This committee is a standing 
interagency committee of senior technical experts that is foundational to the credibility and scientific 
integrity of the evaluation process for projects funded by the Monitoring Program. The TRC reviews, 
evaluates, and make recommendations about proposed projects, consistent with the mission of the 
Monitoring Program.  Fisheries and Anthropology staff from the OSM provide support for the TRC. 
Recommendations from the TRC provide the basis for further comments from Councils, the public, the 
Interagency Staff Committee (ISC), and the Federal Subsistence Board, with final approval of the 
Monitoring Plan by the Assistant Regional Director of OSM.

The 2016 Monitoring Program changes involve how projects are submitted and also how they are 
reviewed.  To be considered for funding under the Monitoring Program, a proposed project must have a 
linkage to Federal subsistence fishery management.  This means that a proposed project must have a 
direct association to a Federal subsistence fishery, and that either the subsistence fishery or fish stocks in 
question must occur in or pass through waters within or adjacent to Federal public lands. Complete 
project packages need to be submitted on time and must address five specific criteria (see below) in order 
to be considered a high quality project.  Addressing only some of the criteria will not guarantee a 



123Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

successful project submission.  Additionally, project review has been changed to aid transparency and 
consistency throughout the process.  Key modifications include specific guidelines for assessing how and 
whether a proposed project has addressed each of the five criteria, receiving a single consolidated review 
from each participating agency, and requiring that agencies recuse themselves from providing reviews for 
projects involving their agency.
Five criteria are used to evaluate project proposals:

1. Strategic Priority - Studies must be responsive to identified issues and priority information 
needs.  All projects must have a direct linkage to Federal public lands and/or waters to be eligible 
for funding under the Monitoring Program.  To assist in evaluation of submittals for projects 
previously funded under the Monitoring Program, investigators must include a synthesis of 
project findings in their investigation plans.  This synthesis should clearly and concisely 
document project performance, key findings, and uses of collected information for Federal 
subsistence management.

a. Federal linkage – Study must have a direct association to a subsistence fishery within 
Federal Subsistence Management Program jurisdiction.  That is, the subsistence fishery 
or stocks in question must occur in waters within or adjacent to Federal public lands 
(National Wildlife Refuges, National Forests, National Parks and Preserves, National 
Conservation Areas, National Wild and Scenic River Systems, National Petroleum 
Reserves, and National Recreation Areas).  

b. Conservation Mandate – Risk to the conservation of species and populations that support 
subsistence fisheries and risk to public lands purposes.

c. Allocation Priority – Risk of failure to provide for Federal subsistence uses.

d. Data Gaps – Amount of information available to support Federal subsistence 
management.  A higher priority is given where a lack of information exists.

e. Management Application – The application of proposed project data must be clearly 
explained and linked to current Federal management strategies and needs.

f. Role of Resource – Importance of a species or a population to a Federal subsistence 
harvest (e.g. number of subsistence users affected, quantity of subsistence harvest), and 
qualitative significance (e.g. cultural value, unique seasonal role).

g. Local Concern – Level of user concern over Federal subsistence harvests (e.g., allocation, 
competing uses, changes in populations).

2. Technical-Scientific Merit - Technical quality of the study design must meet accepted standards 
for information collection, compilation, analysis, and reporting.  Studies must have clear 



124 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

objectives, appropriate sampling design, correct analytical procedures, and specified progress, 
annual and final reports.

3. Investigator Ability and Resources - Investigators must demonstrate that they are capable of 
successfully completing the proposed study by providing information on the ability (training, 
education, and experience) and resources (technical and administrative) they possess to conduct 
the work.  Applicants who have received funding in the past will be evaluated and ranked on their 
past performance, including meeting deliverable deadlines. A record of failure to submit reports 
or delinquent submittal of reports will be taken into account when rating investigator ability and 
resources.   

4. Partnership-Capacity Building - Partnerships and capacity building are priorities of the 
Monitoring Program.  ANILCA mandates that rural residents be afforded a meaningful role in the 
management of Federal subsistence fisheries, and the Monitoring Program offers opportunities 
for partnerships and participation to local residents in monitoring and research.  Investigators are 
requested to include a strategy for integrating local capacity development in their investigation 
plans.  Investigators must not only inform communities and regional organizations in the area 
where work is to be conducted about their project plans, but must also consult and communicate 
with local communities to ensure that local knowledge is utilized and concerns are addressed.  
Letters of support from local organizations add to the strength of a proposal.  Investigators and 
their organizations should demonstrate their ability to maintain effective local relationships and 
commitment to capacity building.  This includes a plan to facilitate and develop partnerships so 
that investigators, communities, and regional organizations can pursue and achieve the most 
meaningful level of involvement.

Investigators are encouraged to develop the highest level of tribal, community and regional 
involvement that is practical. Investigators must demonstrate that capacity building has already 
reached the communication or partnership development stage during proposal development.   
Ideally, a strategy to increase capacity to higher levels will be provided in the project proposal, 
recognizing, however, that in some situations sustainable or higher level involvement may not be 
desired or feasible by the local organizations.  Successful capacity building requires developing 
trust and dialogue among investigators, tribes, local communities, and regional organizations.  
Investigators need to be flexible in modifying their work plan in response to local knowledge, 
issues, and concerns, and must also understand that capacity building should emphasize 
reciprocity and sharing of knowledge and information.

5. Cost Benefit
Cost/Price Factors – Applicant’s cost/price proposal will be evaluated for reasonableness. For a 
price to be reasonable, it must represent a price to the government that a prudent person would 
pay when consideration is given to prices in the market. Normally, price reasonableness is 
established through adequate price competition, but may also be determined through cost and 
price analysis techniques.



125Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

Selection for Award – Applicant should be aware that the government shall perform a “best value 
analysis” and the selection for award shall be made to the Applicant whose proposal is most 
advantageous to the government, taking into consideration the technical factors listed above and 
the total proposed price across all agreement periods.  Matching funds will be factored into the 
review process based on overall value to the government.

POLICY AND FUNDING GUIDELINES

Several policies have been developed to aid in implementing funding. These policies include:

1. Projects of up to four years duration may be considered in any year’s monitoring plan. 
2. Studies must not duplicate existing projects.  
3. A majority of Monitoring Program funding will be dedicated to non-Federal agencies.
4. Long term projects will be considered on a case by case basis.
5. Activities that are not eligible for funding include:

a) habitat protection, mitigation, restoration, and enhancement; 
b) hatchery propagation, restoration, enhancement, and supplementation; 
c) contaminant assessment, evaluation, and monitoring; and
d) projects where the primary or only objective is outreach and education (for example, science 

camps, technician training, and intern programs), rather than information collection, are not 
eligible for funding under the Monitoring Program.

The rationale behind these policy and funding guidelines is to ensure that existing responsibilities and 
efforts by government agencies are not duplicated under the Monitoring Program.  Land management or 
regulatory agencies already have direct responsibility, as well as specific programs, to address these 
activities.  However, the Monitoring Program may fund research to determine how these activities affect 
Federal subsistence fisheries or fishery resources.  

The Monitoring Program may fund assessments of key Federal subsistence fishery stocks in decline or 
that may decline due to climatological, environmental, habitat displacement, or other drivers; however 
applicants must show how this knowledge would contribute to Federal subsistence fisheries management. 
Similarly, the Monitoring Program may legitimately fund projects that assess whether migratory barriers 
(e.g. falls, beaver dams) significantly affect spawning success or distribution; however, it would be 
inappropriate to fund projects to build fish passes, remove beaver dams, or otherwise alter or enhance 
habitat.

2016 FISHERIES RESOURCE MONITORING PLAN 

For 2016, a total of 46 investigation plans were received and 45 are considered eligible for funding 
(Table 1). One project was not eligible for funding because the project falls under habitat mitigation, 



126 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

restoration, and enhancement.  Of the projects that are considered for funding, 33 are SST projects and 13 
are HMTEK projects.

In 2016, the Department of the Interior, through the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, will provide up to 
$2.0 million in funding and up to $2.7 million for ongoing projects that were initially funded in 2014. The 
Department of Agriculture, through the U.S. Forest Service, has historically provided $1.8 million 
annually, but the amount of 2016 funds available projects is uncertain. If the Department of Agriculture 
funding is not provided, none of the proposed projects submitted for the Southeast Region will be funded.



127Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

FISHERIES RESOURCE MONITORING PROGRAM 
SOUTHEAST REGION OVERVIEW

Since the inception of the Monitoring Program in 2000, 72 projects have been undertaken in the Southeast 
Alaska Region for a total of $22.7 million (Figure 1). Of these, the State of Alaska conducted 29 
projects, the Department of Interior conducted one project, the Department of Agriculture conducted 21 
projects, and Alaska Native organizations conducted 21 projects (Figure 2).  Fifty-six projects were
Stock, Status, and Trends (SST), and 16 projects were Harvest Monitoring and Traditional Ecological 
Knowledge (HMTEK).  

Figure 1. Monitoring Program funds received by agencies for projects in the Southeast Alaska 
Region. The funds listed are the total approved funds from 2000 to 2014.  DOI = Department of 
Interior and DOA = Department of Agriculture.

Figure 2. Total number of Monitoring Program projects funded, by agency, in the Southeast Alaska 
Region from 2000 to 2014. DOI = Department of Interior and DOA = Department of Agriculture.



128 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

2016 DRAFT SOUTHEAST
FISHERIES RESOURCE MONITORING PLAN

OVERVIEW

Priority Information Needs

The 2016 Notice of Funding Opportunity for the Southeast Alaska Region identified three priority 
information needs:

Reliable estimates of sockeye salmon escapement. Stocks of interest include: Gut Bay, Red, Kah 
Sheets, Karta, Salmon Bay, Sarkar, Hoktaheen, Klawock, Eek, Kutlaku, Port Houghton, Kasook, 
Hunter Bay and Manhattan Lake.
In-season subsistence harvest of sockeye salmon. Stocks of interest include: Hatchery Creek, Gut 
Bay, Red, Kah Sheets, Salmon Bay, Sarkar, Kanalku, Hoktaheen, Eek, Kutlaku, Port Houghton, 
Kasook, Hunter Bay and Manhattan Lake.
Escapement index for Yakutat Forelands eulachon (continuation).

Technical Review Committee Proposal Ranking

The mission of the Monitoring Program is to identify and provide information needed to sustain 
subsistence fisheries on Federal public lands for rural Alaskans through a multidisciplinary, collaborative 
program.  It is the responsibility of the Technical Review Committee to develop the strongest possible 
Monitoring Plan for each region and across the entire state.  

For the 2016 Monitoring Program, five proposals were submitted for the Southeast Alaska Region.  The 
Technical Review Committee evaluated and scored each proposal for Strategic Priority, Technical and 
Scientific Merit, Investigator Ability and Resources, Partnership and Capacity Building, and Cost/Benefit.   
The final score determined the ranking of each proposal within the region (Table 1).  Projects that rate 
higher comprise a strong Monitoring Plan for the region by addressing strategically important information 
needs based on sound science and promote cooperative partnerships and capacity building. The projects 
listed are currently being considered for Funding in the 2016 Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program.   
Projects which were not eligible due to the nature of the activity are not included.  For more information 
on projects submitted to the 2016 Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program please see the Executive 
Summaries in Appendix A.



129Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

Table 1. Technical Review Committee (TRC) ranking for projects in the Southeast Region. Projects 
are listed by TRC ranking and include total matching funds, total funds requested, and the average 
annual request for each project submitted to the 2016 Monitoring Program within the Southeast 
Region. The projects listed are currently being considered for Funding in the 2016 Fisheries Resource 
Monitoring Program.   Projects which were not eligible due to the nature of the activity are not 
included.  

TRC 
Ranking 

Project 
Number Title

Total 
Matching 

Funds

Total 
Project 

Request

Average 
Annual 
Request

1 16-604 Eek Lake Subsistence Sockeye 
Salmon Project

$0 $266,448 $66,612

2 16-606 Sarkar Creek Sockeye Salmon Stock 
Assessment

$140,817 $356,343 $89,086

3 16-601 Hatchery Creek Sockeye Salmon 
Population Assessment

$0 $545,917 $136,479

4 16-602 Virginia Lake Sockeye Salmon Stock 
Assessment

$0 $743,084 $185,771

5 16-605 Stikine Eulachon Stock Assessment $0 $170,000 $42,500



130 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

2016 PROJECT SUMMARY AND TRC JUSTIFICATION
FOR PROJECT RANKING

TRC Ranking: 1
Project Number: 16-604
Project Title: Eek Lake Subsistence Sockeye Salmon Project

Project Summary: The investigators plan to estimate Sockeye Salmon escapement into Eek Lake 
using two underwater-video equipped net weirs. Personnel will be housed on site where they can review 
video footage daily and sample sockeye twice weekly for age, sex, and length. Subsistence harvest will be 
estimated in conjunction with the Hetta Lake harvest estimate objective.

Justification: This project will build on existing sockeye stock and harvest information which will aid in 
managing resources important to residents of Hydaburg. Eek Lake Sockeye Salmon stock and harvest was 
listed in the priority information needs for the 2016 cycle. Concern regarding below average escapement 
at Hetta Lake has recently caused the shifting of some subsistence sockeye effort to the Eek Lake stock. 
The current stock status of Sockeye Salmon returning to Eek Lake is unknown and there is concern about 
the sustainability of the fishery due to shifted effort from the Hetta Lake stock. The investigators have 
significant expertise and ability regarding sockeye stock and harvest assessments with satisfactory past 
performance on other projects funded through the Monitoring Program. They have developed a budget 
which is closely tied to the Hetta Lake project resulting in considerable cost savings. This project will 
generate new information about sockeye stock and harvest at Eek Lake that will be useful in managing 
the resource. We have identified some concerns in the technical and scientific merit section. However, the 
investigators have already addressed these issues by modifying the project for the 2015 season and will 
carry the changes over to future years.

TRC Ranking: 2
Project Number: 16-606
Project Title: Sarkar Creek Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment

Project Summary: The investigators plan to estimate the escapement of Sockeye Salmon into the upper 
Sarkar watershed with two video equipped net weirs. Age, sex, and length samples will be taken from 100 
Sockeye Salmon captured with dip nets and beach seines at spawning and/or staging areas. Escapement 
data on this system is scarce. A weir was operated in 1982 and 1983 at the main outlet which generated 
unvalidated sockeye counts. 

Justification: This cooperative project between the Craig Tribal Association and the U.S. Forest Service 
will provide new information on the status of the Sarkar Sockeye Salmon stock which is important to 
Federally qualified subsistence users on Prince of Wales Island. This is a high priority project in the 
Southeast Alaska region due to the scarcity of data coupled with the possibility of higher future effort 
shifted from the Klawock Lake fishery due to stock decline and management restrictions. Also, 
subsistence Sockeye Salmon harvest from the Sarkar stock reported to the State has declined dramatically 



131Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

since 2012. A stock assessment can provide information to address this decline in subsistence harvest. 
The cost is reasonable compared to similar, funded Monitoring Program projects. As a first-time principal 
investigator, Craig Tribal Association Fisheries Coordinator will be responsible for implementing this 
project with guidance of U.S. Forest Service biologists. Local residents will be targeted when filling four 
fisheries positions responsible for execution of the field component. These field technicians will be 
trained by the investigators and develop valuable skills that could be used on future Monitoring Program 
projects.

TRC Ranking: 3
Project Number: 16-601
Project Title: Hatchery Creek Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment

Project Summary: The investigators are proposing to continue the Sockeye Salmon stock assessment at 
Hatchery Creek. Adult and jack sockeye will be counted through a picket weir while age, sex, and length 
data will be collected in proportion to the run with a trap integrated into the picket weir. Extremely low 
escapement in 2008 (238) and 2009 (667) resulted in a series of state and/or federal closures in those and 
subsequent years. A fish pass was installed in 2010 at a partial barrier falls below the weir site to aid 
sockeye migration. Since 2010 the sockeye counts at the weir above this fish pass were at least 6,000 with 
a high of over 10,000 in 2010.  This is a continuation of Monitoring Program project 14-605.

Justification: This cooperative project between the U.S. Forest Service and the Organized 
Village of Kasaan will be a continuation of Monitoring Program Project 14-605. The Organized Village 
of Kasaan will continue to assist in the implementation of this project with a locally hired crew leader and 
field technicians. An escapement estimate of Hatchery Creek sockeye was not included in the 2016 
Notification of Funding Availability; however, it was listed on the 2014 Notification of Funding 
Availability and was subsequently funded through 2017. The intent of this proposal is to gain approval for 
funding in 2018 and 2019. The Hatchery Creek Sockeye Salmon fishery has been subjected to State and 
Federal fishery closures in several years beginning in 2008. However, recent escapement levels of at least 
6,000, with a high of over 10,000 in 2010, suggest that the fish pass is effectively aiding Sockeye Salmon
migration to spawning areas resulting in fewer closures and liberalization of harvest limits. There has not 
been substantial sockeye harvest reported at Hatchery Creek since 2003 when 853 were reported 
harvested. An average harvest of 86 sockeye has been reported here annually since 2003. 

TRC Ranking: 4
Project Number: 16-602
Project Title: Virginia Lake Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment

Project Summary: Sockeye Salmon returning to Virginia Lake will be counted using double-redundant 
open net weirs and underwater digital video recorders. These weirs and cameras will be operated 
continuously from late-June through mid-September. The design and operation of the video/mini-DVR 
fish counting system is described in Van Alen (2008).  Age, sex and length data for Sockeye Salmon will 
be gathered on the spawning grounds using a beach seine. The escapement of Sockeye Salmon into 



132 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

Virginia Lake was estimated through the Monitoring Program in 2001 (1,003 sockeye) and 2002 (2,073).  
Sockeye Salmon returns to Virginia Lake have long been an important subsistence resource for residents 
of Wrangell.

Justification: There is clear Federal linkage since sockeye are harvested and spawn in waters under 
Federal jurisdiction and the primary users of the resource are Federally qualified subsistence users from 
Wrangell.  The need for escapement estimates of Sockeye Salmon at Virginia Lake was listed as a priority 
in the 2006 Southeast Alaska Strategic Plan; however, it was rated as a low priority. Virginia Lake was 
not included as a priority information need in the 2016 notice of Funding Availability. The investigations 
did not provide a compelling reason why this project should be a priority information need other than 
subsistence use. There is a high likelihood that the objectives will be achieved; however, there are 
concerns about validation of the weir count and age/sex/length sampling in proportion to the run.  The 
budget is high compared to other weir projects in the region especially since the system is close to 
Wrangell and is boat accessible.  The principle investigator has 24 years of experience with hatchery 
operations. One of the co investigators, Ben Van Alen, has completed numerous Monitoring Program
projects in Southeast Alaska. Capacity building is high with the Wrangell Cooperative Association taking 
the lead role in all aspects of this project with technical support from the U.S. Forest Service and the 
Alaska Department of Fish and Game.

TRC Ranking: 5
Project Number: 16-605
Project Title: Stikine River Eulachon Stock Assessment

Project Summary: This project will estimate timing, distribution, and relative abundance of Eulachon 
returning to the lower Stikine River from mid-March through mid-May using aerial surveys and remote 
video monitoring. The project will increase the understanding of coast-wide declines in Eulachon stocks.  
This information is needed to better provide for the continuation of subsistence take by Federally 
qualified subsistence users in the Stikine River.  

Justification: Eulachon are harvested in waters under Federal jurisdiction and are widely used by 
residents of Wrangell and Petersburg. Information on Eulachon stocks in the Stikine River was not 
identified as a priority in the 2006 Southeast Region Strategic Plan or in the 2016 Notice of Funding 
Availability.  There was no compelling evidence in the investigation plan of a conservation concern or a 
problem with subsistence harvest of Eulachon in the Stikine River.  However, there are general concerns 
with Eulachon abundance south of the Stikine River in the Unuk River near Ketchikan and in British 
Columbia, Canada. The budget seems reasonable. While all but one of the investigators are new to the 
Monitoring Program, a co-investigator and his agency have successfully conducted numerous projects 
funded through the Monitoring Program. There is very little involvement with cooperators outside the 
U.S. Forest Service.



133Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

APPENDIX A

The following Executive Summaries were written by the Principle Investigators and submitted to the 
Office of Subsistence Management as part of the proposal package.  The statements and information 
contained in the Executive Summaries were not altered and they may not reflect the opinions of the 
Office of Subsistence Management or the Technical Review Committee.  The Executive Summaries listed 
are for projects that are currently being considered for Funding the 2016 Fisheries Resource Monitoring 
Program.   Projects which were not considered for funding were not eligible due to the nature of the 
activity and are not included in this appendix.

Project Number: 16-601
Project Title: Hatchery Creek Sockeye Salmon Population Assessment
Geographic Area: Southeast Alaska
Data Type: Stock Status and Trends
Principal Investigator: Jeff Reeves, Craig Ranger District, U.S. Forest Service (USFS)
Co-Investigators: Jeff Bell and Paula Peterson, Organized Village of Kasaan (OVK)

Project Cost 2016: $133,963   2017: $135,574   2018: $137,290    2019: $139,090
Total Cost: $ 545,917

Issue:  Sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) comprise the most important subsistence fishery resource 
for rural residents in the Southeast Alaska region.  The Hatchery Creek drainage on Prince of Wales 
Island (PWI) has supported extensive subsistence and sport harvests by both Alaska resident and non-
resident anglers. This proposed project addresses a critical Southeast Alaska subsistence fishery concern 
that has been repeatedly identified as a monitoring need by the Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional 
Advisory Council and the Southeast Alaska Fisheries Information Service Strategic Plan.  Both the USFS
and the Alaska Department of Fish and Game also consider the management of the Hatchery Creek 
sockeye salmon population to be a key subsistence issue for Prince of Wales Island due to the early run 
timing and uniqueness of this sockeye population.  

Objectives:
1. Estimate the total escapement of adult and jack sockeye salmon that pass above the upper falls on 

Hatchery Creek with a weir project such that the estimated coefficient of variation is less than 
15%.

2. Estimate the age, length, and sex composition of the Hatchery Creek system sockeye escapement 
so that the estimated coefficient of variation for the dominant age class is less than 10%.

Methods:  (1) A channel-spanning aluminum and steel bipod weir will be employed to census the early run 
sockeye population in Hatchery Creek.  The weir will be installed at a location above the falls, and will be 
operated continuously from the 1st of June until August 30th during each of the study years.  



134 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

(2) The age, sex, and length (ASL) composition of the early run Hatchery Creek sockeye salmon sub-
population will be assessed from in-situ sampling of returning adult fish captured at the weir. ASL 
information will be collected during each year of the proposed study.  Individuals will be sampled at 
systematic intervals, corresponding to frequencies that are designed to obtain a minimum total annual N
of 400.

Products:  Results of the study will be available as annual progress and final reports submitted to FIS-
OSM; via papers submitted for publication through scientific fisheries journals and ADF&G Technical 
Reports; and as formal presentations provided at SERAC, Federal/State agency, and professional society 
meetings.

Investigators Ability and Resources:  Jeff Reeves, Subsistence Fisheries Biologist will be responsible 
for overall project administration, coordination with OSM/FIS staff, development of the study design and 
operation plan, on-site technical assistance to tribal and state/federal agency staff, data 
analysis/interpretation, and editing/delivery of progress and final reports. Jeff Bell, Fisheries Coordinator 
for OVK, responsibilities will include hiring and supervision of the project’s field technicians, acquisition 
and management of all field research equipment, coordination with OSM/FIS staff, development of the 
study design and operation plan, on-site technical assistance to tribal and state/federal agency staff, data 
analysis/interpretation, and editing/delivery of progress and final reports. Paula Peterson is the Tribal 
Administrator of OVK having extensive expertise and experience in administering grants and contracts 
with Native organizations, private entities, and the federal government. 

Partnership and Capacity Building:  This proposed project has substantial capacity development 
aspects associated with it.  Both the USFS and OVK will be provided funds to compensate the lead field 
fisheries biologisst and hire the field technicians needed for this study; local hiring priority will be given 
to qualified personnel from the PWI Native organizations and Island’s rural communities to fill these 
positions.  This proposal represents the results of extensive interagency cooperation between fisheries and 
subsistence program personnel from the OVK and the USFS.  Sharing of data among all of the agencies 
involved in this subsistence fishery will provide better information to improve management of Hatchery 
Creek sockeye salmon for all users.         



135Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

Project Number: 16-602
Title: Virginia Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment Project
Geographical Region: Southeast Alaska
Data Type: Stock Status and Trends
Principal Investigator: Brian Ashton, Wrangell Cooperative Association, Wrangell
Co-Investigators: Ben Van Alen, U.S. Forest Service, Juneau

Dennis Reed, Fisheries Biologist, U.S. Forest Service, Wrangell
Martin Hutten, PhD, U.S. Forest Service, Wrangell

Project Cost: 2016: $183,590 2017: $183,784 2018: $186,494 2019: $189,216
Total: $743,084

Issue: Sockeye Salmon returns to Virginia Lake and its outlet stream, Mill Creek, have long been an 
important subsistence resource for Tlingit families living in the Wrangell area. Reportedly, Mill Creek 
was the location of the first village of the Stikine Tlingit as well as the first winter village for the Kiksadi 
and the Katcadi (United States Department of Agriculture, Wrangell Ranger District, unpublished data). 
At seven miles, from Wrangell, Virginia Lake/Mill Creek is the closest subsistence resource to the 
community. Since the 1980’s multiple projects have been undertaken to increase productivity of Sockeye 
in this watershed, to include: preliminary limnological survey (1986), stream channel modification 
(1988), 7.6 million (approx.) fry plants (1989-1995), nutrient enrichment, and adult escapement 
evaluations. After the fish pass was complete in 1980 and augmented with fry plants, returns were 
projected to increase to 60,000 adult returns. This has not come to pass. EV (Euphotic Volume) modeling 
subsequently suggested a projected return sustainability of 26,000-37,000 Sockeye. In the late 90’s, 
adoption of ZB-EZD (Zooplankton Biomass-Euphotic Zone Depth) modeling suggests a sustainable 
return of 10,000 -17,000 Sockeye. With funding from the Federal Subsistence Fisheries Resource 
Monitoring Program, the latest escapement monitoring in 2001 – 2002 counted 1003 and 2073 Sockeye 
past the ladder at the lower falls. Of the fish counted in 2001-2002, it is estimated that less than 10% 
successfully spawned in the lake and upper watersheds. In 2003, the US Forest Service tracked adult 
escapement via radio-tagging to determine the ultimate fate of returning spawning adults. It took an 
average of 4.1 days to migrate up 1.2 km with four falls. Of the 100 adults tracked, 78 successfully 
migrated into Virginia Lake with 60% spawning in the lake and only 15% divided between the lower 
reaches of Porterfield and Glacier Creeks. Only 63 were believed to be successful spawners, and 8 were 
unverified. This estimates successful spawning no greater than 63% and could be lower considering the 
26% that were unverified. At the end of the most recent research (2001-2003), the following 
recommendations were made by US Forest Service Biologists:

1. Fertilization treatments cease (ceased in 2002)
2. Data gaps need to be identified and prioritized
3. Consideration of physical manipulation of second upstream waterfall
4. Genetics study to assess stock heterogeneity (due to McDonald lake stock introduction)
5. Realistic management goals be established
6. Subsistence harvest should consider modification



136 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

Subsistence harvests continue at Virginia Lake with mediocre results (12 fish per permit). Only the most 
diligent subsistence users make an effort to catch Sockeye at the mouth of Mill Creek and many choose to 
travel to much farther locations to be assured of a successful harvest. In 2014, the Wrangell Cooperative 
Association initiated a fisheries management program to address diminished subsistence fisheries within 
their historical boundaries and identified Virginia Lake/Mill Creek as the first resource to address. This is 
also a modest project, with highly capable advisors assist in building capacity within the new fisheries 
program. After researching past efforts, Ben VanAlen and Dennis Reed (US Forest Service) were 
approached in late 2014 by WCA council and staff for assistance and recommendations. On March 7, 
2015, Dennis Reed, Ben VanAlen, Martin Hutten (US Forest Service Fisheries Biologists), Ken Lewis 
(WCA council member) and Brian Ashton (WCA Fisheries Program Manager) walked Mill Creek up to 
Virginia Lake and finalized the first step in a plan to fill data gaps, in an effort to address adult passage 
issues through Mill Creek. It was agreed that the most relevant data would be achieved with a net weir at 
the mouth of the lake outlet and remote cameras to monitor fish passage past the three upper falls.

Objectives:
1. Count (census) the annual escapement of adult and jack sockeye salmon into Virginia Lake using 

double-redundant video weirs.
2. Estimate the age, sex, and length composition of the sockeye escapement into Virginia Lake with 

a precision of ±10%, 95% of the time.
3. Monitor passage of adults past Mill Creek Falls #2 (and possibly #3 and #4) with remote cameras.

Methods: Project personnel will count and validate the daily and annual escapement of sockeye salmon 
into the lake using double-redundant lake net weirs and underwater video cameras.  Both lake net weirs 
will be fished between the shores.  Project personnel will review the video files each day and record the 
fish counts by hour for each camera in a bound data notebook and computer database.  These weirs and 
video/mini-DVRs (digital video recorders) will be operated continuously from Mid-June through mid-
September in 2016, 2017, 2018 & 2019. Upstream migrating fish will not be stopped at the video weirs 
and will be able to migrate freely into the lake at any time. The only fish that need to be handled are the 
ones sampled for age, sex, length, and genetic data, and those fish will be caught with beach seines off the 
mouth of the main inlet stream in August and on the beach spawning areas in September. Remote cameras 
will be set up at the three upper waterfalls in Mill Creek to monitor fish passage. Exchange of batteries 
and data storage will be conducted as necessary. A four person crew will be divided into two, two person 
teams.  Each team will work 10-days-on and 10-days-off, and they will live on-site in a floating wall tent 
fitted with propane appliances. If approved by ADF&G, remote monitoring of weirs will be implemented, 
once remote monitoring is tested and a rapid-response plan has been proven.

Partnerships/Capacity Building: The Wrangell Cooperative Association (WCA) and USDA Forest 
Service cooperated on the 2011-2012 stock assessment of Virginia Lake sockeye salmon.  This project 
will provide June through September employment for WCA members. The WCA has successfully filled 
past crew positions with local hires and will likely hire locally for this project as well.  The WCA will eek 
to fill a project biologist position with a local hire.  Field personnel participate in USFS safety training.



137Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

Project Number: 16-604
Title: Eek Lake Subsistence Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment Project
Geographic Region: Southeast Alaska
Data Type: Stock Status Trends 
Principal Investigator: Anthony Christianson, Hydaburg Cooperative Association, Hydaburg
Co-Investigator: Cathy Needham, Kai Environmental Consulting Services, Juneau

Project Cost 2016: $79,253 2017:  $61,932 2018: $62,397 2019: $62,866
Total Cost: $266,448

Issue: Hydaburg Cooperative Association (HCA) is proposing to conduct a stock assessment on sockeye 
salmon returning to Eek Lake, an important subsistence system to the community of Hydaburg.  The 
information will allow HCA and state and federal resource management agencies to more accurately 
manage sockeye salmon returning to Hetta and Eek Lakes through Hetta Inlet.  This project address’ the 
Strategic Plan for the Subsistence Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program (2006) by addressing the 
highest priority species (sockeye salmon) and information need (estimate of current escapement).  Over 
the past few years, HCA has been managing Hydaburg’s subsistence harvest in-season, and in many cases 
they divert harvest to Eek Lake when sockeye salmon returns at Hetta Lake are low or delayed.  Given 
there have not been recently stock assessments projects at Eek Lake, this proposed project fills an 
important data gap for Hydaburg’s management of their subsistence sockeye fishery.

Objectives:  

1. Estimate escapement of sockeye salmon adults into Eek Lake using a two net weir, four camera 
system.

2. Estimate the age, sex and length composition of the sockeye salmon spawning in Eek Lake with a 
coefficient of variation less than 20% for the principle age class. 

Note that a concurrent objective of estimating the annual harvest of sockeye salmon from Eek Lake is 
covered in a project proposal for the continuation of the Hetta Lake Subsistence Sockeye Salmon 
Assessment Project

Methods: Sockeye salmon escapement into Eek Lake will be estimated through use of a double 
redundant video lake net weir system.  Two lake net weirs will be installed at the outlet creek at Eek Lake 
each season and an underwater video camera system will record returning sockeye salmon from mid-June 
through mid-August.  The field crew will review video footage to count all species of fish that pass 
through the system.  Approximately 600 fish will be captured in a floating trap attached the lower net 
weir, and will be sampled for age, sex and length data.  Fish will be measured and sexed on site.  Scales 
will be removed and sent to Alaska Department of Fish and Game to be read to determine age.  Weekly 
in-season reports for weir counts will be shared with federal and state agencies.  Annual reports will be 



138 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

produced after each field season, and a final report including all four seasons will be produced at the end 
of the project.

Partnership/Capacity Building: HCA has been building their capacity to manage and operate a fisheries 
program under the Fisheries Resource Management Program since 2001.  They have successfully become 
the Principal investigator on the Hetta Lake Subsistence Sockeye Assessment project, starting in 2010.  
The success of the program has led to other fisheries projects important to understanding and managing 
subsistence resources on behalf of the Hydaburg community.  This proposed project will produce 
significant cost savings by using field equipment already owned by HCA, but using the Hetta Lake 
project’s contracted biologist, and by having the Hetta Lake crew available and close to lend logistical 
support.  HCA’s ability to operate this proposed project relies on the partnering support of the U.S. Forest 
Service, who will assist in modifying a double redundant video lake net weir system design for Eek Lake, 
who will assist in training a new fish crew on these new methods, and who will give technical assistance 
in season as needed.  In addition, ADFG will continue to support the project by providing scale reading 
services and working with HCA on habitat and fish handling permits.  



139Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

Project Number: 16-605
Title: Stikine River Eulachon Stock Assessment
Geographic Region: Southeast Alaska
Data Type: Stock Status and Trends
Principal Investigator: Martin Hutten, Fish, Wildlife, Ecology, Soils & Subsistence Staff Officer 

USDA Forest Service, Wrangell Ranger District
Co-Investigator(s): Dennis Reed, Fish Biologist USDA Forest Service, Wrangell Ranger District

Ben Van Alen, Fish Biologist USDA Forest Service, Juneau Ranger District
Robert Larson, Fish Biologist USDA Forest Service, Petersburg Ranger 
District

Project Cost: 2016: $47,000 2017: $41,000 2018: $41,000 2019: $41,000
Total Cost: $170,000

Issue: The Stikine River is the largest mainland river bisecting the Coast Mountains that link Southeast 
Alaska to the interior of Canada. The Stikine is of international importance for resident and migratory 
wildlife and fish but little is known, and less is written, about the annual distribution, timing, and relative 
abundance of the eulachon run to the Stikine River (Willson et al. 2006).  This project will provide 
monitoring of eulachon and eulachon predators in the lower Stikine River area using time-lapse video 
from underwater and above water cameras and aerial surveys.  This baseline information is needed to 
better understand when and where eulachon are present, annual abundance trends, and the status of this 
stock.  This information is needed to better provide for the continuation of subsistence take by Federally 
qualified subsistence users.  Monitoring the health of Stikine eulachon is particularly important since the 
Unuk River eulachon stock declined below fishable levels in the early 2000s as has other eulachon stocks 
in British Columbia, Washington, Oregon, and California area.

Objectives:  Estimate the timing (1), distribution (2), and relative abundance (3) of eulachon spawning in 
the lower Stikine. 

Methods: Fixed wing flights will be flown on or near specific dates, on a specific route, to visually and 
photographically document the distribution and relative abundance of eulachon and eulachon predators in 
the lower Stikine River area during the mid-March to mid-May spawning period.  The abundance and 
distribution of eagles, gulls, terns, mergansers, seals, and sea lions preying on eulachon are visible 
indicator of the eulachon that are difficult or impossible to see in the silty and glacially occluded waters of 
the lower Stikine River. Where possible, observers will record presence/absence of eulachon, and, if 
present, abundance (some, few, moderate, or lots).  Along with these qualitative measures, observers will 
map eulachon observations, record observed predators such as birds and mammals and record survey 
conditions.  These observations will be maintained in a database that is easily shared. 

Time lapse cameras and video cameras with microphones will be used to monitor the timing and relative 
abundance of eulachon and birds and marine mammals targeting eulachon in the area.  Underwater time-



140 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

lapse cameras will be deployed in locations where there are plumes of clear water flowing from side 
channel tributaries into the Stikine River.  

Project personnel will seek to remotely monitor the project site(s) using IP cameras and a wireless bridge 
link to the web (see Van Alen and Musslewhite 2014).  In-camera and in-app time-lapse and motion 
triggered sending of images is possible.  Recorded video and pictures will be archived for future analysis 
and run documentation. Data loggers will be deployed in a mid-intertidal area to get hourly readings of 
the water and air temperatures and river/tide depth.  Project personnel will look at relationships between 
eulachon timing, water/air temperatures, tide stage, and river flows. 

Partnerships/Capacity Building: With the decline of nearly all eulachon runs south of the Stikine River, 
the proposed project directly addresses local concerns regarding the fate and stability of the Stikine River 
eulachon run and its associated local subsistence fishery. The Stikine River at nearly 400 miles long and 
16 mile wide delta is the life blood of the Wrangell Community and is used for recreation and 
subsistence. It was also an ancient trading route used by Alaskan Natives, in Tlingit translation of the 
Stikine is “Great River”. Wrangell Ranger District biologists, interpreters and hydrologist are actively 
engaged with the local community through several activities that occur on the Stikine River. This project 
would provide a variety of new technologies and opportunities that would be well suited for community 
and scholastic participation. The District has 8 recreation cabins located throughout the river delta that 
can be used to accommodate volunteers and students involved with this project. Wrangell is also home to 
the annual Stikine River Birding festival which coincides with the eulachon run and shorebird migration
and with this project would provide several new elements that would further enrich this community event. 



141Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

Project Number: 16-606
Project Title:  Sarkar Creek Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment
Geographic Area: Southeast Alaska
Principal Investigator: Stefanie Thomas-Fox, Craig Tribal Association (CTA), Craig
Co-Investigators: Jeff Reeves, USFS Craig Ranger District Subsistence Fisheries Biologist, Craig

Ben Van Alen, USFS Juneau Ranger District Fisheries Biologist, Juneau

Project Cost: 2016: $139,341 2017: $72,334   2018: $72,334   2019: $72,334  
Total Cost: $356,343

Issue:  Sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) comprise the most important subsistence fishery resource 
for rural residents in the Southeast Alaska region.  The Sarkar Lake system on Prince of Wales Island 
(PWI) has supported extensive customary and traditional use and subsistence harvests by Alaska 
residents.  This proposed project addresses a critical Southeast Alaska subsistence fishery concern that 
has been repeatedly identified as a monitoring need by the Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional 
Advisory Council and the Southeast Alaska Fisheries Information Service Strategic Plan.  Both the USFS 
and the Alaska Department of Fish and Game also consider the management of the Sarkar Lake sockeye 
salmon population to be a key subsistence issue for Prince of Wales Island due to the early run timing and 
uniqueness of this sockeye population.  

Objectives:
1. Estimate the annual escapement of sockeye salmon into the upper Sarkar Lake system with a pair 

of video net weirs. 
2. Estimate the proportion of age 2 sockeye salmon escaping into the Sarkar Lake system with a 

precision of +/- 10%, 90% of the time.

Methods:  
1. Estimate the annual escapement of sockeye salmon into Sarkar Lake using a video weir system 

from May 1 through August 31.
2. Estimate the age, sex, and length composition of age 2 sockeye salmon into Sarkar Lake with a 

precision of +/- 10%, 90% of the time.

Products:  Results of the study will be available as annual progress and final reports submitted to FIS-
OSM and as formal presentations provided at SERAC, Federal/State agency, and professional society 
meetings.

Investigators Ability and Resources:  Stefanie Thomas-Fox will be the Fisheries Coordinator with 
CTA.  Ms. Thomas-Fox’s responsibilities include hiring and supervision of the project’s crew leader and 
technicians, acquisition and management of all field research equipment, coordination with USFS staff, 
development of the study design and operation plan, on-site technical assistance to tribal and state/federal 
agency staff, data analysis/interpretation, and editing/delivery of progress and final reports.  Ms. Anna 
Guthrie, CTA Tribal Administrator, will provide contract, financial, field crew hiring, and other 



142 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

administration services for the project. Co-Investigator USFS Subsistence Fisheries Biologist Jeff Reeves 
will help with project administration, project logistics, writing and editing of progress and final reports.
Ben Van Alen, USFS Fisheries Biologist will help with logistics and the technical aspect of the overall 
project.

Partnership and Capacity Building:  This proposed project has substantial capacity development 
aspects associated with it.  The USFS staff guidance and expertise will be match while CTA will be 
provided funds to compensate the lead field fisheries biologisst and hire the field technicians needed for 
this study; local hiring priority will be given to qualified personnel from the PWI Native organizations 
and Island’s rural communities to fill these positions.  This proposal represents the results of extensive 
interagency cooperation between fisheries and subsistence program personnel from the CTA and the 
USFS.  Sharing of data among all of the agencies involved in this subsistence fishery will provide better 
information to improve management of Sarkar Creek sockeye salmon for all users.



143Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

APPENDIX B

Table B. 1.  Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program projects funded in the Southeast Region from 2000 
to 2014. 

Project 
Number Project Title Investigators

Estimation of Sockeye Salmon Escapement
00-043 Klawock Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment ADF&G, KCA
00-044 Falls Lake Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment ADF&G, OVK
00-045 SE Tribes Traditional Subsistence Territory Mapping USFS
01-125 Gut Bay, Kook, and Hoktaheen L Sockeye Salmon 

Escapement Index
ADF&G, OVK

01-126 Kanalku, Hasselborg and Sitkoh Lakes Sockeye Stock 
Assessement

ADF&G

01-127 Thoms, Salmon Bay, Luck Lakes Sockeye Salmon Esc 
Index

ADF&G, WCA

01-128 Klag Bay Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment ADF&G, STA, USFS
01-130 Hetta Lake Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment ADF&G, HCA
01-175 Salmon Lake Sockeye and Coho Salmon Stock Assessment ADF&G, STA, NSRAA, 

USFS
01-179 Virginia Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment USFS
02-012 Neva and Pavlof Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment USFS, HIA
02-017 Redfish Bay Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment STA, ADF&G, USFS
03-007 Eek Lake Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment HCA, ADF&G
04-604 Klawock Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment ADF&G, KCA
04-605 Kanalku, Sitkoh Lakes Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment ADF&G, ACA
04-606 Hetta Lake Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment ADF&G, HCA
04-607 Falls, Gut, Kutlaku Subsistence Sockeye Stock Assessment AD&F&G, OVK
04-608 Salmon Lake Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment STA
04-609 Klag Bay Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment STA, ADF&G, USFS
05-601 Kook Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment ADF&G, ACA, USFS
05-603 Klawock Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment ADF&G, USFS
06-601 Neva Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment USFS
06-602 Kutlaku Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment ADF&G, OVK
07-601 Hatchery Creek Sockeye Salmon Assessment OVK, USFS
07-604 Klag Bay Sockeye Salmon Assessment STA
07-606 Hetta Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment ADFG
07-607 Kanalku Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment ADF&G, ACA
07-608 Klawock Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment ADF&G, KCA
07-609 Falls Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment ADF&G, OVK 
08-600 Karta River Sockeye Salmon Assessment OVKa, ADF&G, USFS, BIA
10-600a Karta River Sockeye Salmon Assessment OVKa, BIA, USFS, ADF&G
10-601 Hatchery Creek Sockeye Salmon Assessment USFS, OVKa, BIA
10-603a Yakutat Eulachon Surveys USFS, YSB, ADF&G
10-604a Klag Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment STA, USFS
10-605 Sitkoh Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment USFS, ACA, ADF&G,
Continued on next page



144 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Research Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

Table B.1 continued

Project 
Number Project Title Investigators

Estimation of Sockeye Salmon Escapement
10-606a Hetta Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment HCA, KECS
10-607a Kanalku Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment ADF&G, ACA
10-609 Falls Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment USFS, OVK
10-610 Kook Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment USFS, ACA
10-611 Redoubt Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment USFS, ADF&G,
10-612 Neva Lake Sockeye Salmon Salmon Assessment USFS, HIA
14-601b Redoubt Lake Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment USFS, ADF&G
14-602b Falls Lake Subsistence Sockeye Salmon Stock and Harvest 

Assessment 
USFS, OVK

14-603b Hetta Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment HCA, KECS
14-605b Hatchery Creek Sockeye Salmon Assessment USFS, OVKa
14-606b Klawock Lake Sockeye Salmon  Assessment USFS, KCA, POWHA
14-608b Kanalku L Subsistence Sockeye Salmon Assessment ADF&G, ACA, USFWS
14-609b Klag Lake Sockeye Salmon Assessment STA
14-610b Kook Lake Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment USFS, ACA
14-611b Sitkoh Lake Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment USFS, ACA
14-612b Neva Lake Sockeye Salmon Stock Assessment USFS, HIA

Documentation of Subsistence Use Patterns for Salmon
00-015 SE Alaska Subsistence Fisheries Database Development ADF&G
00-045 SE Tribes Traditional Subsistence Territory Mapping USFS, OVK, ACA, HIA
01-091 East Alsek River Salmon Historical Use and TEK YTT
01-103 SE Subsistence Fisheries GIS Database ADF&G
01-104 Kake Sockeye Salmon Subsistence Harvest Use Pattern ADF&G, OVK
01-105 Klawock River and Sarkar L Sockeye Salmon Harvest Use 

Patterns
ADF&G, KCA

02-038 SE Subsistence Fisheries GIS Database Development ADF&G, CCTHITA, TST
02-049 Wrangell Salmon Subsistence Harvest Use Pattern ADF&G, WCA, USFS
02-104 Hoonah and Klawock Salmon Survey ADF&G, CCTHITA, TST

03-651 Klawock River Subsistence Steelhead Harvest and Use 
Pattern ADF&G,

04-651 SE Alaska Salmon TEK and Subsistence Monitoring STA, ADF&G,
04-652a Subsistence TEK Database ADF&G, STA
06-651 Southeast Alaska Survey of Customary Trade in Seafood a CCTHITA

07-651 Hydaburg Sockeye Salmon Customary and Traditional 
System HCA, UAA

08-651 Maknahti Island Subsistence Herring Fishery Assessment STA, PSU
Prince of Wales Island Steelhead

01-105 POW Island Steelhead/Rainbow Trout Harvest Use Pattern ADF&G,
05-604 Prince of Wales Steelhead Assessment ADF&G, OVKa
08-650 POW Island Steelhead Trout Subsistence Harvest Survey OVKa, HCA, BIA, USFWS
Continued on next page



145Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program - Southeast Region

Table B.1 continued

Project 
Number Project Title Investigators

Estimation of Non-salmon Species
07-610 Behm Canal Eulachon Genetics USFWS
08-607 Unuk River Eulachon Assessment USFS
14-607b Unuk River Eulachon USFS
a = Final report in 
preparation                                                                                                                                                    
                    b = Ongoing project during 2016                                                                                                  
Abbreviations used are:  ACA = Angoon Community Association, ADF&G = Alaska Department of Fish 
and Game, BIA = Bureau of Indian Affairs, CCTHITA = Central Council of Tlingit & Haida Indian Tribes 
of Alaska, HCA = Hydaburg Cooperative Association, HIA = Hoonah Indian Association, KCA = Klawock 
Cooperative Association, KECS = Kai Environmental Consulting Services, NSRAA = Northern 
Southeast Aquaculture Association, OVK = Organized Village of Kake, OVKa = Organized Village of 
Kasaan, POWHA = Prince of Wales Hatchery Association, PSU = Portland State University, STA = Sitka
Tribe of Alaska, TST = Third Sector Technologies, UAA = University of Alaska Anchorage, USFS =
USDA Forest Service, USFWS = USDOI Fish and Wildlife Service, WCA = Wrangell Cooperative 
Association, YSB = Yakutat Salmon Board, and YTT = Yakutat Tlingit Tribe.



146 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Annual Report Briefing

ANNUAL REPORTS 
 
Background 
 
ANILCA established the Annual Reports as the way to bring regional subsistence uses and needs 
to the Secretaries' attention.  The Secretaries delegated this responsibility to the Board.  Section 
805(c) deference includes matters brought forward in the Annual Report.  
 
The Annual Report provides the Councils an opportunity to address the directors of each of the 
four Department of Interior agencies and the Department of Agriculture Forest Service in their 
capacity as members of the Federal Subsistence Board.  The Board is required to discuss and 
reply to each issue in every Annual Report and to take action when within the Board’s authority. 
In many cases, if the issue is outside of the Board’s authority, the Board will provide information 
to the Council on how to contact personnel at the correct agency.  As agency directors, the Board 
members have authority to implement most of the actions which would effect the changes 
recommended by the Councils, even those not covered in Section 805(c).  The Councils are 
strongly encouraged to take advantage of this opportunity. 
 
Report Content   
 
Both Title VIII Section 805 and 50 CFR §100.11 (Subpart B of the regulations) describe what 
may be contained in an Annual Report from the councils to the Board.  This description includes 
issues that are not generally addressed by the normal regulatory process:   
 

 an identification of current and anticipated subsistence uses of fish and wildlife 
populations within the region; 

 an evaluation of current and anticipated subsistence needs for fish and wildlife 
populations from the public lands within the region;  

 a recommended strategy for the management of fish and wildlife populations within the 
region to accommodate such subsistence uses and needs related to the public lands; and  

 recommendations concerning policies, standards, guidelines, and regulations to 
implement the strategy. 
 

Please avoid filler or fluff language that does not specifically raise an issue of concern or 
information to the Board.     
 
Report Clarity 
 
In order for the Board to adequately respond to each Council’s annual report, it is important for 
the annual report itself to state issues clearly.   
 

 If addressing an existing Board policy, Councils should please state whether there is 
something unclear about the policy, if there is uncertainty about the reason for the policy, 
or if the Council needs information on how the policy is applied.   

 Council members should discuss in detail at Council meetings the issues for the annual 
report and assist the Council Coordinator in understanding and stating the issues clearly. 



147Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Annual Report Briefing

 Council Coordinators and OSM staff should assist the Council members during the 
meeting in ensuring that the issue is stated clearly.     

 
Thus, if the Councils can be clear about their issues of concern and ensure that the Council 
Coordinator is relaying them sufficiently, then the Board and OSM staff will endeavor to provide 
as concise and responsive of a reply as is possible.    
 
Report Format  
 
While no particular format is necessary for the Annual Reports, the report must clearly state the 
following for each item the Council wants the Board to address:   

1. Numbering of the issues, 
2. A description of each issue, 
3. Whether the Council seeks Board action on the matter and, if so, what action the Council 

recommends, and  
4. As much evidence or explanation as necessary to support the Council’s request or 

statements relating to the item of interest. 
 
 
 



148 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Wrangell St. Elais National Park & Preserve Report to Southeast Regional 
Advisory Council, August 2015

1

United States Department of the Interior
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

Wrangell-St. Elias National Park & Preserve
Mile 106.8 Richardson Hwy. P.O. Box 439

Copper Center, AK 99573-0439
907 822 5234 Fax 907 822 3281

http://www.nps.gov/wrst

FALL 2015 REPORT TO THE SOUTHEAST ALASKA REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL
Prepared by Barbara Cellarius (barbara_cellarius@nps.gov)

August 13, 2015

Marine Debris Clean-up on the Malaspina Forelands

During a 10-day stretch in June 2015, Wrangell-St. Elias National Park and Preserve partnered with the 
Yakutat Tlingit Tribe, the Alaska SeaLife Center, Gulf of Alaska Keeper, and Glacier Bay National Park 
and Preserve to remove marine debris from the Malaspina Forelands. This was the first time that this area 
of the park – which is only accessible via plane or boat – has been accessed for such a clean-up. This 
project was part of a larger effort across Alaska to clean-up marine debris. With the help of our Youth 
Conservation Corps crew, Yakutat youth hired by the tribe with funding through the Public Lands Corps,
and other park staff and partners, we collected more than 3 tons of debris. Some of the debris originated in 
Japan and the Far East, but there was also debris from closer to Alaska, including a buoy from a 
fisherman’s net in Washington State. All of this debris was placed in garbage bags and later into “Super 
Sacks,” which each hold about 12-17 garbage bags. Later in the summer, the debris was transferred by 
helicopter to a barge stationed off the coast, and it -- along with debris from other marine clean-up
projects in Alaska -- was barged to Lower 48 for disposal. (For more information, contact Miranda 
Terwilliger, Ecologist, at 822-7232 or miranda_terwilliger@nps.gov.)

Harbor Seals Study to Begin in 2016

A study was initiated in 2000 by NOAA’s National Marine Mammal Laboratory (NMML) in response to 
concerns by the Yakutat Tlingit Tribe over perceived reductions in abundances of harbor seals available 
during tradition hunts.  Recently published results of that study demonstrated that (a) 85% of ships 
flushed seals from their ice haul outs; (b) seals flushed at distances as great as 500 meters, with more than 
90% being flushed by the time the ships approached to within 100 meters; (c) a single ship can flush up to 
16% of all seals present, and that up to 5 ships may visit on a given day; and (d) seals redistributed within 
the bay in response to ships. NOAA’s Office of Protected Resources endorsed follow-up studies to better 
understand the effects of these disturbance events on the seal population.  

Funding has been obtained for a 3-year follow-up study to begin in 2016. Wrangell-St. Elias National 
Park and Preserve will partner with biologists, Scott Gende and Jamie Womble, from Glacier Bay 
National Park and Preserve, and John Jansen and Dr. Peter Boveng of the NMML to conduct the study.  
The objective of this study is to quantify the time-activity budgets (or more specifically the percent of 
time that seals spend in the water) of harbor seals as a function of cruise ship disturbance.  Seals will be 
captured in two areas of the park’s coast with contrasting levels of cruise ship traffic: Disenchantment 
Bay (about 130-150 cruise ships entering annually) and in nearby Icy Bay (no large cruise ships) over 2 
years.  Time-activity budgets of seals will be determined by attaching satellite-linked transmitters to a 
sample of seals in Disenchantment Bay and in Icy Bay. (For more information, contact Scott Gende, 
Senior Science Advisor, Glacier Bay Field Station at (907) 364-2622 or scott_gende@nps.gov.) 



149Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Wrangell St. Elias National Park  & Preserve Report to  Southeast Regional 
Advisory Council, August, 2015

2

Yakutat Tlingit Ethnographic Overview and Assessment

The goal of the Yakutat Tlingit Ethnographic Overview and Assessment is to provide a broad synthesis of 
Yakutat Tlingit and Eyak cultural history, traditional territory, socio-political organization and cultural 
change over the last 100 years in the northern Gulf of Alaska, with particular emphasis on the relationship 
between the communities and lands within Wrangell-St. Elias National Park and Preserve. Although a few 
new interviews were conducted for this project in order to fill data gaps, this report is primarily a 
literature review based on ethnographic literature and other previously collected material. The project was
conducted by researchers from Portland State University in cooperation with NPS staff. The collected 
information will help to inform park management decisions, identify places and resources of particular 
importance to peoples traditionally associated with the southern flank of Wrangell-St. Elias, orient new 
park staff to the cultural context of the park, and provide interpretive materials for the park’s use. The 
project was recently completed, and copies of the final report and associated annotated bibliography are 
available upon request. (For more information, contact Barbara Cellarius, Cultural Anthropologist, (907) 
822-7236 or barbara_cellarius@nps.gov.)

Wrangell-St. Elias National Park Subsistence Resource Commission

The Wrangell-St. Elias National Park Subsistence Resource Commission (WRST SRC) provides a venue 
for local subsistence users to have input into the management of subsistence resources in Wrangell-St. 
Elias National Park. Since the establishment of the Federal subsistence program in 1990, the nine-member 
commission has also been making recommendations on proposals affecting the park directly to Regional 
Advisory Councils and the Federal Subsistence Board. At its spring 2013 meeting, the SRC elected Karen 
Linnell of Kenny Lake as its new chair, and she continues to hold that position. 

Federal Regional Advisory Councils (RACs) appoint three members to the SRC. These members provide 
an important link between the SRC and the Federal Subsistence Board. According to ANILCA Section 
808(a), RAC appointees to the SRC must be a member of either the regional advisory council or a local 
advisory committee within the region and also engage in subsistence uses within the park.

The Regional Advisory Councils who address issues in Wrangell-St. Elias National Park and Preserve 
include the Southcentral RAC, the Eastern Interior RAC, and the Southeast RAC. The Southeast RAC
position is currently vacant. Gloria Stickwan is the Southcentral RAC appointee to the WRST SRC. Her 
term expires in November 2017. Sue Entsminger is the Eastern Interior RAC appointee to the WRST 
SRC. Her term expires in November 2015. 

In addition to the RAC appointments, three members of the SRC are appointed by the Governor of Alaska 
and three members are appointed by 
the Secretary of the Interior. 
Subsistence users interested in 
applying for a seat on the WRST SRC 
should contact Barbara Cellarius at 
822-7236 or 
barbara_cellarius@nps.gov.

Wrangell-St. Elias SRC meeting at the 
Buster Gene Memorial Facility in 
Gakona, AK, February 2015.



150 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Wrangell St. Elias National Park Backcountry & Wilderness Stewardship 
Plan

1 
 

•  

 

 

 

 



151Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Wrangell St. Elias National Park Backcountry & Wilderness Stewardship 
Plan

2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 



152 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fall 2015 Report - Office of Subsistence Management

Office of Subsistence Management 
Fall 2015 Regional Advisory Council Report 

Staffing Update 

Robbin La Vine joined the Office of Subsistence Management (OSM) in October 2014.  She is 
an anthropologist with extensive experience conducting subsistence research and building 
collaborative partnerships with Alaska Tribal, State, and Federal entities since 2002.  Before 
joining OSM, she worked as a researcher for the Togiak National Wildlife Refuge, served as 
Social Scientist for the Bristol Bay Native Association Partners Program in Dillingham, and was 
a Subsistence Resource Specialist for the Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of 
Subsistence.  Robbin is delighted to serve rural Alaskans while strengthening partnerships to 
ensure the continuation of the subsistence way of life.

Amee Howard joined OSM as the new Subsistence Policy Coordinator in July 2015.  Prior to 
OSM, she worked as an Environmental Protection Specialist for the Pacific West Region of the 
National Park Service in Boulder City, Nevada. Previously, she worked for the Alaska 
Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, as a Fish and Game Program 
Technician in Sitka.  Amee also spent time working as the Coastal Monitoring Coordinator for 
the Sitka Tribe of Alaska.  She earned her Bachelors of Science in Natural Sciences, with minors 
in Environmental Studies and Geology, from the University of Alaska, Anchorage.  Amee 
possesses a well-rounded background gained from previous work experience and is a valuable 
addition to the OSM team.

Efforts are currently underway to hire the following positions: Council Coordinator, 
Anthropologist, Anthropologist (Pathways), Fisheries Biometrician, Fisheries Biologist (2), 
Fisheries (Pathways) Grants Management Specialist, IT Specialist, and Administrative Assistant. 

The North Pacific Fishery Management Council adopts measures to reduce Chinook
Salmon bycatch in the Bering Sea Pollock fishery

At its April 2015 meeting in Anchorage, the North Pacific Fishery Management Council 
(NPFMC) took action to reduce bycatch of both Chinook and Chum Salmon in the Bering Sea 
commercial Pollock fishery.  Recognizing the precarious state of Western Alaska’s Chinook 
Salmon stocks, the NPFMC took a combination of actions which lower the caps in times of low 
abundance, combine Chinook and Chum Salmon bycatch management, place additional 
requirements on industry incentive plans and reapportion the Pollock catch between seasons. 
Taken together, these actions are anticipated to reduce bycatch of both Chinook and Chum 
Salmon, and ensure that additional measures, including lower caps, are in place in years of low 
Chinook Salmon abundance.

Much of the attention from stakeholders from both Western Alaska and the Pollock fishery 
focused on the option of lowering the Chinook Salmon bycatch hard cap and the performance 
standard, currently 60,000 and 47,591 fish, respectively.  Western Alaskan stakeholders asked 
for a 60% reduction in both the hard cap and performance standard during testimony at the
meeting and in several hundred letters and resolutions submitted prior to the meeting.  The 



153Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fall 2015 Report - Office of Subsistence Management

Pollock industry advocated that no reductions be enacted.  The State of Alaska led the effort to 
provide protections for Western Alaska Salmon stocks. Newly-appointed Alaska Department of 
Fish and Game Commissioner Sam Cotten introduced a motion calling for a 35% reduction in 
the performance standard and a 33% reduction in the hard cap.  Commissioner Cotten’s motion 
was amended by the Bill Tweit, NPFMC representative from Washington State, to a 25%
reduction in the hard cap and a 30% reduction in the performance standard. This lesser reduction 
was passed by the NPFMC unanimously (10-0).

The results of the NPFMC action are as follows: In years of low Chinook Salmon abundance 
(defined as years in which the cumulative total Chinook Salmon runs of the Kuskokwim, Upper 
Yukon and Unalakleet Rivers is at or below 250,000 fish), the hard cap will be 45,000 and the 
performance standard will be 33,318 Chinook Salmon.  The Pollock fishery manages to the 
performance standard, so the reduction in this number is important.  The Council also made it 
very clear that they expect bycatch to remain well below the caps, and would take additional 
action if warranted.  It should be noted that, in recent years, bycatch has averaged around 15,000
Chinook Salmon.

In addition to the reductions in the cap levels, the NPFMC’s action contains several other, 
important measures.  The other pieces of the motion apply in all years – not just when Salmon 
abundance is low.  Alternative 2 combines Chinook and Chum Salmon bycatch management 
programs, ensuring a coordinated approach. It also requires information sharing with Western 
Alaska groups.  Alternative 3 adds five new requirements for the industry Incentive Plan 
Agreements (IPA) to meet, including requiring Salmon excluders, restrictions on bycatch rates in 
October (a time of historically high bycatch) and significant penalties (no fishing) for boats with 
repeatedly bad bycatch performance.  The options the Council selected under Alternative 4 
provide the Pollock fishery with the flexibility to catch more of its harvest in the late A season, 
potentially shifting harvest effort away from the high bycatch times later in the year.

In summary, the NPFMC’s action puts in place measures to further reduce bycatch in all times of 
abundance, and to ensure that in periods of low Chinook Salmon abundance the Pollock fishery 
would be limited to a lower level of bycatch. 

Bridging the Gap between Native Communities, Conservation, and Natural Resource
Management: Grant Update

The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the Alaska Native Science and Engineering Program 
(ANSEP) were awarded a National Fish and Wildlife Foundation grant to help re-establish a lost 
connection between Federal resource managers and rural communities in the Yukon-Kuskokwim 
and Doyon Regions.  Members of these communities rely on subsistence resources within six 
National Wildlife Refuges for both cultural and nutritional needs.  Continued resource declines
in both the Yukon and Kuskokwim River drainages have led to immense hardships for local 
residents as well as numerous challenges for resource managers to provide sufficient subsistence 
harvest opportunities, while ensuring adequate conservation efforts.



154 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Fall 2015 Report - Office of Subsistence Management

Funds from this grant are used to increase outreach opportunities and foster collaborative 
solutions by expanding the Refuge Information Technician (RIT) Program.  Outreach and 
education contribute significantly to the overall success of resource management.  Language 
barriers and cultural obstacles o f t e n stand in the way of achieving effective communication.
The RIT program employs Alaska Native residents to serve as liaisons between the Yukon Delta 
National Wildlife Refuge and local communities. The RITs’ regional experience, traditional 
ecological knowledge, Yup’ik language skills, and cultural sensitivity enhance their role as 
intermediaries. Expanding the capabilities of the RIT program will significantly increase and 
improve important connections between the Yukon Delta National Wildlife Refuge and local 
communities.  These relationships are fundamental for local residents to become more involved 
in the management and conservation of the resources on which they depend.

Funds from this grant are also supporting ANSEP students participating in biological internships
within the Yukon-Kuskokwim and Doyon Regions. ANSEP strives to increase the number of 
Alaska Natives employed in the fields of science, technology, engineering and mathematics 
(STEM) by increasing the number of individuals on a career path to leadership in STEM fields.
The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service is partnering with ANSEP to provide meaningful summer 
internships that expose students to careers in resources management.  These internships provide
an opportunity for students to experience resource monitoring and management while developing 
knowledge and skills allowing them to succeed in professional resource management positions.

Changes to Council Member Appointment Process 

The Office of Subsistence Management has submitted requests to the Secretary of the Interior to 
make the following changes to the Council member appointment process: shift from 3-year to 4-
year appointment terms, allow for appointment of alternates, and provide for a 120-day
carryover term for incumbents in the event that appointment letters are not timely issued. Dan
Ashe, Director, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, has provided his support of these changes. As of 
the writing of this report, OSM is waiting to hear back from the Secretary’s office to initiate the
direct final rule making that would be necessary to change the appointment terms to 4 years. The 
new Senior Advisor for Alaska Affairs, Michael Johnson, will be assisting in moving this 
through the Secretary’s office. OSM is moving ahead with plans to implement all changes for 
the current appointment cycle.

In order to switch from 3-year to 4-year appointment terms, as well as switch from having one-
third of Council seats up for appointment each year to one-fourth of the seats being up for
appointment, appointment terms will be staggered in order to complete the transition by the 2019 
appointment cycle. This means that some Council members, even incumbents, may receive 2, 3 
or 4-year appointments in the next few years. By 2019, however, all Council appointments will 
be for 4-year terms. If you have any questions, contact Carl Johnson, Council Coordination 
Division Chief, at (907) 786-3676 or carl_johnson@fws.gov.



155Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

All-Council Meeting Information

All-Council Meeting 
Anchorage, Alaska – Egan Center

 March 7-11, 2016

Meeting Committee: RAC Chairs, Council Coordinators, Orville Lind (Native Liaison), Deborah Coble 
(Subsistence Outreach Specialist)

Joint Session

Monday, March 7, 2015
Invocation 
Keynote Speaker:

Joint Agenda Items: Common issues from annual reports (i.e., bycatch, budget, other agency actions that 
impact subsistence, food security, climate change)

Concurrent Sessions

One full day for each of the Councils to address their regional issues

Tuesday – three Councils
Wednesday – three Councils
Thursday – three Councils
Friday – one Council

Training

Sessions repeat throughout the week to allow all Council members opportunity to attend.

Title VIII of ANILCA
Robert’s Rules of Order
Federal Indian Law (with ANCSA implications)
Cross-Cultural communication
C&T versus 804
Regulatory Process (State and Federal)

Reports and Panels

Western Arctic Caribou Herd
Yukon River salmon
Kuskokwim River salmon
Public Processes for Fish & Wildlife Management (RAC, SRC, AC, AMBCC)
Holistic management – discussion and explanation of how agencies manage resources (BLM, 
USFWS, NPS, USFS)
Tribal Consultation 
Different Federal Subsistence Programs (Migratory Birds, Marine Mammals, Halibut)
Understanding Dual Management

Important to note: this one meeting will encompass the entire meeting cycle for winter 2016



156 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

All-Council Meeting Information 

JOINT FEDERAL SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCILS

Egan Center
Anchorage, Alaska

March 7, 2016
8:30 a.m.

AGENDA

*Asterisk identifies action item.

1. Invocation

2. Keynote Address

3.  Roll Call and Establish Quorum (Council Coordination Division Chief)..............................................

4. Call to Order (Chair)

5. Welcome and Introductions (Chair)

6. Review and Adopt Agenda* (Chair) .....................................................................................................

7. Regional Reports

8. Business (Chair)

a. Climate Change .................................................................................................................................

b. Food Security ....................................................................................................................................

c. Federal Subsistence Budget...............................................................................................................

d. Revisions to FRMP ...........................................................................................................................

e. Hunter Education...............................................................................................................................

f. Youth Engagement.............................................................................................................................

9. Agency Reports

TELECONFERENCE: call the toll free number: 1-866-[number], then when prompted 
enter the passcode: [number]

PUBLIC COMMENTS: Public comments are welcome for each agenda item and for 
regional concerns not included on the agenda. The Council appreciates hearing your 
concerns and knowledge. Please fill out a comment form to be recognized by the 
Council chair. Time limits may be set to provide opportunity for all to testify and 
keep the meeting on schedule.

PLEASE NOTE: These are estimated times and the agenda is subject to change. 
Contact staff for the current schedule. Evening sessions are at the call of the chair.



157Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

All-Council Meeting Information

a. NPFMC – Pollock Bycatch Update..................................................................................................

b. Status on Magnuson-Stevens Act Renewal.......................................................................................

c. Fisheries Management Overview ......................................................................................................

d. OSM – Processes .............................................................................................................................

Closing Comments 

10. Adjourn (Chair)

To teleconference into the meeting, call the toll free number: 1-866-[number], then when prompted 
enter the passcode: [number]

Reasonable Accommodations
The Federal Subsistence Board is committed to providing access to this meeting for all 
participants. Please direct all requests for sign language interpreting services, closed captioning, or other 
accommodation needs to [name], 907-786-XXXX, [email], or 800-877-8339 (TTY), by close of business 
on [date].



158 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

All-Council Meeting Information 

A
ll-C

ouncil M
eeting Schedule

 
M

onday 3/7 
Tuesday 3/8 

W
ednesday 3/9 

Thursday 3/10 
Friday 3/11 

M
ain Room

 
All day 
Joint Session 
of the 
Councils  
 

M
orning 

Training: Title VIII of AN
ILCA 

Afternoon 
Training: Cross-cultural 
com

m
unication 

M
orning 

Training: Regulatory Process 
Afternoon: 
Training: Federal Indian Law

 
 

M
orning 

Report: Yukon River Salm
on 

Afternoon 
Panel: Tribal Consultation 

M
orning 

Training: Robert’s Rules of O
rder  

Afternoon 
Panel: U

nderstanding D
ual 

M
anagem

ent 

Sm
all Room

 1 
 

All day 
RAC 1 – Concurrent Session 
YKD

RAC 
 

All day 
RAC 4 – Concurrent Session 
EIRAC 

All day 
RAC 7 – Concurrent Session 
SERAC 

All day 
RAC 10 – Concurrent Session 
KARAC 

Sm
all Room

 2 
 

All day 
RAC 2 – Concurrent Session 
W

IRAC 

All day 
RAC 5 – Concurrent Session 
SCRAC 

All day 
RAC 8 – Concurrent Session 
BBRAC 

M
orning 

 Afternoon 
Panel: Tribal Consultation  

Sm
all Room

 3 
 

All day 
RAC 3 – Concurrent Session 
SPRAC 
 

All day 
RAC 6 – Concurrent Session 
N

W
ARAC 

All day 
RAC 9 – Concurrent Session 
N

SRAC 

All day 
SERAC D

ay 2 (if needed)  

Sm
all Room

 4 
 

M
orning 

Training: Robert’s Rules of O
rder 

Afternoon 
Panel: Public Processes for Fish 
&

 W
ildlife M

anagem
ent 

M
orning 

Training: C&
T versus Section 804 

Afternoon 
Training: Cross-Cultural 
Com

m
unication 

M
orning 

Panel: U
nderstanding D

ual 
M

anagem
ent 

Afternoon 
Training: C&

T versus Section 804 

M
orning 

Training: C&
T versus Section 804 

Afternoon 
Panel: Public Processes for Fish &

 
W

ildlife M
anagem

ent 

Sm
all Room

 5 
 

M
orning 

 Afternoon 
Panel: H

olistic m
anagem

ent 

M
orning 

Training: Title VIII of AN
ILCA 

Afternoon 
Panel: Public Processes for Fish &

 
W

ildlife M
anagem

ent 

M
orning 

Training: Cross-Cultural 
Com

m
unication 

Afternoon 
Panel: H

olistic m
anagem

ent 

M
orning 

Report: W
ACH

 
Afternoon 
Training: Title VIII of AN

ILCA 
 

Sm
all Room

 6 
 

M
orning 

Training: Regulatory Process 
Afternoon 
Panel: D

ifferent Federal 
Subsistence Program

s 

M
orning 

Training: Robert’s Rules of O
rder 

Afternoon 
Panel: D

ifferent Federal 
Subsistence Program

s 

M
orning 

Training: Federal Indian Law
 

Afternoon 
Report: Kuskokw

im
 Salm

on 

M
orning 

Training: Regulatory Process 
Afternoon 
 

 



159Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

All-Council Meeting Information

TR
AIN

IN
G

PA
N

ELS
R

EPO
R

TS (O
N

C
E EAC

H)
Title VIII of A

N
ILCA

 (x3) 
 Provide an overview

 of Title VIII and key provisions 
that govern Federal subsistence m

anagem
ent.  

Public Process for Fish &
 W

ildlife M
anagem

ent 
(A

C, RA
C, SRC, A

M
BCC) (x3) 

 Panel consisting of one m
em

ber of an AC, RAC, SRC 
and AM

BCC to explain how
 each of their processes 

w
ork and how

 public can participate.  

W
estern A

rctic Caribou H
erd 

 Report from
 State and Federal m

anagers on status 
of herd and current m

anagem
ent objectives and 

approaches.  

Cross-Cultural Com
m

unication (x3) 
 Training to help State and Federal staff im

prove 
com

m
unication w

ith Alaska Natives. 

H
olistic M

anagem
ent (x2) 

 Conceptual panel to discuss how
 fish and w

ildlife 
am

ong various agencies can be m
anaged in a m

ore 
holistic w

ay.  

Yukon Salm
on 

 Report from
 State and Federal m

anagers on status 
of salm

on stocks and current m
anagem

ent 
objectives and approaches. 

Robert’s Rules of O
rder (x3) 

 Training to benefit RAC m
em

bers in the conduct of 
their m

eetings under Robert’s Rules.  

Tribal Consultation (x2) 
 Panel consisting of N

ative Liaisons from
 R7 and 

O
SM

 and Tribal leaders to discuss current 
consultation process and how

 it should w
ork. 

Em
phasis on w

hat consultation m
eans from

 Tribal 
perspective.  

Kuskokw
im

 Salm
on 

 Report from
 State and Federal m

anagers on status 
of salm

on stocks and current m
anagem

ent 
objectives and approaches. 

Regulatory Process (x3) 
 Explain the regulatory process under both State 
and Federal system

s and provide inform
ation on 

how
 to subm

it proposals.  

D
ifferent Federal Subsistence Program

s  
(H

alibut, M
arine M

am
m

als, M
ig Birds, O

SM
) (x2) 

 Panel consisting of representatives from
 the 

various Federal program
s that regulate certain 

subsistence activities to discuss their jurisdiction, 
legal authority, and approach to m

anagem
ent.  

Federal Indian Law
 (x2) 

 Basic principles of Federal Indian law
 including how

 
it is affected by the Alaska N

ative Claim
s 

Settlem
ent Act and related case law

 in State and 
Federal courts.  

U
nderstanding D

ual M
anagem

ent (x2) 
 State and Federal m

anagers explain their 
jurisdictional role in m

anaging fish and w
ildlife 

resources, how
 the tw

o som
etim

es w
ork together 

and som
etim

es separately.  
C&

T versus Section 804 (x3) 
 Provide instruction on how

 C&
T determ

inations 
and Section 804 determ

inations are m
ade, how

 
applied, w

here they differ.  



160 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

2016 Meeting Calendars

Winter 2016 Regional Advisory Council
Meeting Calendar

March 2016 current as of 3/24/2015
Meeting dates and locations are subject to change.

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday

Feb. 7 Feb. 8

Window 
Opens

Feb. 9 Feb. 10 Feb. 11 Feb. 12 Feb. 13

Feb. 14 Feb. 15

PRESIDENT’S
DAY

HOLIDAY

Feb. 16 Feb. 17 Feb. 18 Feb. 19 Feb. 20

Feb. 21 Feb. 22 Feb. 23 Feb. 24 Feb. 25 Feb. 26 Feb. 27

Feb. 28 Feb. 29 Mar. 1 Mar. 2 Mar. 3 Mar. 4 Mar. 5

Mar. 6 Mar. 7 Mar. 8 Mar. 9 Mar. 10 Mar. 11 Mar. 12

Mar. 13 Mar. 14 Mar. 15 Mar. 16 Mar. 17 Mar. 18

Window 
Closes

Mar. 20

All Council Meeting - Anchorage



161Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

2016 Meeting Calendars

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday
Aug. 21 Aug. 22

WINDOW
OPENS

Aug. 23 Aug. 24 Aug. 25 Aug. 26 Aug. 27

Aug. 28 Aug. 29 Aug. 30 Aug. 31 Sept. 1 Sept. 2 Sept. 3

Sept. 4 Sept. 5

HOLIDAY

Sept. 6 Sept. 7 Sept. 8 Sept. 9 Sept. 10

Sept. 11 Sept. 12 Sept. 13 Sept. 14 Sept. 15 Sept. 16 Sept. 17

Sept. 18 Sept. 19 Sept. 20 Sept. 21 Sept. 22 Sept. 23 Sept. 24

Sept. 25 Sept. 26 Sept. 27 Sept. 28 Sept. 29 Sept. 30 Oct. 1

Oct.2 Oct. 3 Oct. 4 Oct. 5 Oct. 6 Oct. 7 Oct. 8

Oct. 9 Oct. 10 Oct. 11 Oct. 12 Oct. 13 Oct. 14 Oct. 15

Oct. 16 Oct. 17 Oct. 18 Oct. 19 Oct. 20 Oct. 21 Oct. 22

Oct. 23 Oct. 24 Oct. 25 Oct. 26 Oct. 27 Oct. 28 Oct. 29

Oct. 30 Oct. 31 Nov. 1 Nov. 2 Nov. 3 Nov. 4

WINDOW
CLOSES

Nov. 5

Fall 2016 Regional Advisory Council
Meeting Calendar
August–November 2016

Meeting dates and locations are subject to change.

Aug. 21

Aug. 28

Sept. 4

Sept. 11

Sept. 18

Sept. 25

Oct.2

Oct. 9

Oct. 16

Oct. 23

Oct. 30

Aug. 27

Sept. 3

Sept. 10

Sept. 17

Sept. 24

Oct. 1

Oct. 8

Oct. 15

Oct. 22

Oct. 29

Nov. 5



162 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Charter



163Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Charter



164 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Charter



165Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Charter



“Like” us on Facebook!
www.facebook.com/subsistencealaska


